GSK3-controlled sympathetic activity in FGF23 production and FGF23 gene regulation by actin cytoskeleton reorganization

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

> vorgelegt von Md. Abul Fajol aus Chapai Nawabganj, Bangladesch

> > Tübingen, Germany 2015

Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation: Dekan:

- 1. Berichterstatter:
- 2. Berichterstatter:

08.02.2015 Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Rosenstiel Prof. Dr. Florian Lang Prof. Dr. Friedrich Götz

Acknowledgements

All praise is for Allah, who has enabled me to complete this research. I have the honor to express my deepest sense of gratitude, sincere appreciation and indebtedness to my respected supervisor, Professor Dr. med. Florian Lang, Head of the Department of Physiology I, University of Tübingen for his constant inspiration, scholastic guidance, immense encouragement, valuable suggestion, timely and solitary instruction, cordial behaviors, constructive criticism and providing all facilities for successful completion of the research work as well as preparation of this thesis.

I also feel indebted to Professor Dr. med Michael Föller, Institute of Agricultural and Nutritional Sciences, Martin-Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle (Saale), Germany, for providing privileges, friendly and cordial assistance to carry out this research work.

I am expressing my heart felt and sincere gratitude to my second supervisor Professor Dr. Friedrich Götz, for his kind cooperation to present my dissertation and to finish my study.

I am extremely grateful to Professor Dr. Christos Stournaras, Department of Biochemistry, University of Crete, Greece and my senior colleague Dr. Syed M Qadri for their kind cooperation and continuous encouragement to complete research work.

I am also grateful to Kashif Jilani, Anja T Umbach, Hajar Fahkri, Sobuj Mia, Hong Chen, Musaab Ahmed, Dr. Yogesh Singh, Dr. Madhuri S Salker, Christine Zelenak, Rosi Bissinger and Bingbing Zhang for their kind cooperation, help, friendship and suggestions in the period of my research work at the Physiology Institute, Tübingen.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Efi Faber, Lejla. Subasic, Uwe Schueler and Tanja Loch for their help and kind cooperation in all steps in this research.

I express thanks to all other members of the Laboratory of Physiology I and all of my friends and well-wishers for their encouragement and inspiration during this period.

Special thanks to my friend Nilufar Yesmin who made my time enjoyable in Tübingen.

Finally and most importantly I would like to show my deepest appreciation to my beloved parents, brothers, sisters and relatives whose financial support, inspiration and continuous blessing opened the gate and paved the way of my higher studies.

The Author Abul Fajol

Zusammenfassung

Der Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF23) ist ein Hormon, das im Knochen gebildet wird und die Phosphatausscheidung steigert. Es ist ein wichtiger Regulator des Vitamin D-Stoffwechsels und des Phosphathaushalts. Es wird im Knochen gebildet und wirkt hauptsächlich in der Niere. FGF23 hemmt das Enzym 25-Dihdroxyvitamin D 1ahydroxylase und reduziert somit die blidung des biologisch aktiven Vitamin d-Hormones und stimuliert dessen Abbau durch die 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase. Es blockiert die renale Phosphatreabsorption im proximalen Nierentubulus und erniedrigt damit die Serumphosphatkonzentration sowie die Konzentration von aktivem Vitamin D. Glykogensynthasekinase ist eine Die (GSK3) ubiquitär exprimierte Serin-/Threoninkinase. Sie ist in eine Vielzahl von zellulären Prozessen eingebunden, z.B. in den Glykogenstoffwechsel, die Transkription und Translation, Proliferation und Überleben der Zellen, die Regulation des Zell-Zyklus, die reorganisation des Zytoskeletts und die Apoptose. Die GSK3 ist ein Signalmolekül des PI3Kinase-Stoffwechsels. Sie wird durch den Insulin-abhängigen PKB/Akt-Signalweg phosphoryliert und dadurch blockiert. Transgene Mäuse, welche PKB-insensitives GSK3 α/β (gsk-3^{kl}) exprimieren, zeigen erhöhte Aktivität des sympathischen Nervensystems und Phosphaturie sowie erniedrigte Knochendichte. Es ist bereits bekannt, dass der Sympathikus die FGF23-Sekretion fördert. Im ersten Teil der Studie wurde die Rolle der GSK-kontrollierten Sympathikusaktivität für die Bildung von FGF23 Regulation des Phosphatstoffwechsels und die untersucht. Serum FGF23, Vanillinmandelsäure, Adrenalinausscheidung im urin. Phosphat und Kalziumausscheidung waren signifikant höher in *gsk-3^{kl}* Mäusen im Vergleich zu *gsk-* 3^{WT} Mäusen. Die Serum-FGF23 und 1.25(OH)₂D₃-Konzentrationen waren niedriger in $gsk-3^{KI}$ Mäusen als in $gsk-3^{WT}$ Mäusen. Die Mäuse wurden eine Woche mit einem β -Blocker (propranolol) im Trinkwasser behandelt. Die Propranololbehandlung erniedrigte den Serum-FGF23, den renalen Phosphat-und Kalziumverlust und erhöhte die Serum Phosphatkonzentration in *gsk-3^{KI}* Mäusen. Damit wurde gezeigt, dass die PI3Kinaseinsensitive GSK3 an der Regulation der FGF23-Bildung, des Vitamin D Metabolismus und somit auch des Mineralstoffwechsels durch das sympathische Nervensystem mitwirkt. Im zweiten Teil der Studie Rolle der Reorganisation des Aktin-Zytoskeletts für

die Kontrolle der FGF23 Produktion untersucht. Es ist bekannt, dass 1,25(OH)₂D₃ und NF-κB die FGF23-Bildung steigern. Um die Rolle der 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induzierten Aktinpolymerisation für die Fgf23 Transkription in UMR 106 Osteoblasten ähnlichen Zellen zu untersuchen, wurde die Dynamik der Aktinpolymerisation durch Western Blot und konfokale Mikroskopie verfolgt und die Fgf23-Transkription mit quantitativer RT-PCR gemessen. Es konnte gezeigt werden, dass die Induktion der FGF23-Produktion durch 1,25(OH)₂D₃ in Aktinpolymerisation resultiert. Dieser Effekt wurde durch die pharmakologische Hemmung des NF-kB durch Wogonin blockiet. Cytochalasin B, eine Substanz, welche Aktinfilamente depolymerisiert, hat die 1,25(OH)₂D₃ induzierte Fgf23 Transkription behindert. Dieses Resultat deuten auf eine entscheidende Rolle des Aktinzytoskeletts für die Fqf23-Transkription hin. Zur Identifikation der zugrundeliegenden Signaltransduktion wurden die Zellen mit dem Rac1-inhibitor NSC 23766 und den PAK-inhibitor IPA3 behandelt. Beide Inhibitoren blockierten die 1,25(OH)₂D₃ induzierte FGF23 Expression, so dass der Rac1/PAK-Signalweg an dem Effekt beteiligt ist. Die vorliegenden Ergebnisse liefern einen starken Beweis dafür, dass die Rac1 regulierte Aktinreorganisation einen wichtigen Beitrag für die 1,25(OH)2D3induzierte FGF23-Bildung liefert.

Summary

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23 is a bone derived phosphaturic hormone. It is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. FGF23 is secreted from the bone and exerts its function on the kidney. Further, it inhibits 25-dihydroxyvitamin D 1α-hydroxylase and reduces formation of active vitamin D and stimulates 25dihydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase, which in turn favors degradation of vitamin D. FGF23 inhibits renal phosphate reabsorption in the proximal tubules, thereby lowering serum phosphate and active vitamin D. To exert its renal function, FGF23 requires klotho as a co-receptor. Both FGF23 and klotho deficiency, lead to vascular calcification, hyperphosphatemia, hypercalcemia, muscular atrophy and profound aging like phenotypes. Glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3 is a serine-threonine kinase, which is ubiquitously expressed and involved in a variety of cellular process including; glycogen metabolism, transcription, translation, proliferation, survival, cell cycle regulation, cytoskeleton reorganization and apoptosis. GSK3 is a downstream signaling molecule of phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3 kinase)/PKB/Akt pathway. Mice expressing PKB insensitive GSK3 α/β (*gsk-3^{ki}*) show enhanced sympathetic nervous activity and phosphaturia with low bone density. The sympathetic nervous system was shown to stimulate FGF23 release. In this thesis, I investigated the role of GSK3-controlled sympathetic activity in the production of FGF23 and phosphate metabolism. Serum FGF23, urinary epinephrine, Vanillylmandelic acid (VMA), phosphate and calcium excretion were significantly higher in $gsk-3^{ki}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice. Serum FGF23 and $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ concentrations were lower in $gsk3^{Kl}$ mice than in $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice. Mice were treated with β-blocker (propranolol) for one week resulted in decreased serum FGF23 and renal phosphate and calcium loss and elevated serum phosphate concentration in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice. Thus, these data suggest that PI3K insensitive GSK3 participates in the regulation of FGF23 formation, vitamin D metabolism and, thereby mineral metabolism by sympathetic nervous system.

Next, I explored the role of actin cytoskeleton reorganization in controlling FGF23 production. Previous findings have suggested that $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and NF- κ B stimulates FGF23 production. Therefore, the role of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced actin polymerization on Fgf23 expression in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells was explored. Actin polymerization

vii

dynamics was determined by Western blotting and confocal imaging and Fgf23 transcript levels was measured by qRT-PCR. Western blotting and confocal imaging data showed 1,25(OH)₂D₃ induces actin polymerization in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells. Thus induction of FGF23 production by $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ resulted in actin polymerization, an effect blocked by the pharmacological inhibitor of NF- κ B wogonin (100 μ M). Cytochalasin B (100 nM) is a actin microfilament disrupting agent which abolished $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 gene transcription, pointing a role of actin cytoskeleton in Fgf23 expression. Both Rac1 inhibitor NSC23766 (50 μ M) and IPA3 (10 μ M) blocked $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 expression, suggesting the mechanism involved in actin cytoskeleton- controlled Fgf23 expression in UMR 106 cells involves Rac1 small GTPase signaling. These results provide strong evidence that actin reorganization regulated by Rac1 signaling contributes to $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 gene transcription.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Zusammenfassung	v
Summary	vii
Table of contents	ix
List of figures	xii
List of tables	xiv
Abbreviations	xv
1. Introduction	1
1.1 FGF23	1
1.2 Discovery of FGF23	2
1.3 Source of FGF23	3
1.4 Phenotypes of Fgf23 mice	3
1.4.1 Fgf23 deficient mice	3
1.4.2 Fgf23 transgenic mice	4
1.5 Function of FGF23	5
1.5.1 FGF23 and klotho	5
1.5.2 Renal function of FGF23	6
1.5.3 Vitamin D metabolism	6
1.5.4 Phosphate metabolism	7
1.6 FGF23 and diseases	8
1.6.1 Possible role of FGF23 in the premature aging	8
1.6.2 Hypervitaminosis-D and premature aging in FGF23 mutant mice	9
1.6.3 Hyperphosphatemia and aging	9
1.6.4 FGF23 and chronic kidney disease (CKD)	10
1.6.5 FGF23 and cardiovascular diseases (CVD)	12
1.6.6 Inflammation and oxidative stress	12
1.6.7 FGF23 and vascular calcification	12

1.7 Regulation of FGF23	13		
1.7.1 Regulation by 1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	13		
1.7.2 Regulation by phosphate			
1.7.3 Regulation by PTH			
1.7.4 Regulation by bone-derived factors	15		
1.7.5 Other regulators	15		
1.8 GSK3 signaling	16		
1.8.1 GSK3			
1.8.2 Regulation of GSK3 by insulin and growth factors			
1.8.3 GSK3 and sympathetic nervous activity	17		
1.9 Actin cytoskeleton	18		
1.9.1 Rho GTPase and actin cytoskeleton	19		
1.9.2 Rho GTPase and PI3K	20		
1.9.3 Actin cytoskeleton and diseases	20		
2. Aim of the study	21		
3. Materials and methods	22		
3.1 Materials	22		
3.1.1 Chemicals and reagents	22		
31.2 Kits	24		
3.1.3 Equipments	24		
3.2 Methods	25		
3.2.1 Cells	25		
3.2.2 Quantification of mRNA expression	26		
3.2.3 Confocal microscopy	27		
3.3 Mice	27		
3.3.1 Propranolol treatment	28		
3.3.2 Blood chemistry	28		
3.3.3 Serum c-term FGF23 measurement	28		
3.3.4 Calcitriol measurement	29		
3.3.5 Plasma PTH measurement	29		
3.3.6 Serum calcium, phosphate and creatinine	29		

3.3.7 Metabolic cage study	30
3.3.8 Urinary phosphate, calcium and creatinine	30
3.3.9 Measurement of urinary VMA and epinephrine	30
3.4 Blood pressure measurement	31
3.5 Measurement of F/G actin ratio by Triton X-100 fractionation	31
3.6 Western blotting	32
3.6.1 Solutions	33
3.7 Statistics	34
4. Results	35
4.1.1 Enhanced serum FGF23 in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	35
4.1.2 Renal klotho abundance in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	36
4.1.3 Sympathetic nervous activity in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	37
4.1.4 High blood pressure in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	38
4.1.5 Glomerular filtration rate (GFR)	39
4.1.6 β -blocker normalized enhanced production of FGF23 in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	40
4.1.7 The effect of propranolol on Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106	
cells	42
4.1.8 Reduced 1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	43
4.1.9 Hypophosphatemia and phosphaturia in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	44
4.2.1 Hypoparathyroidism in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	45
4.2.2 Calciuria in <i>gsk-3^{ki}</i> mice	46
4.3 The effect of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ on actin cytoskeleton reorganization in UMR 106	
cells	47
4.4 1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ -induced actin polymerization is abolished by NF- κ B inhibitor	
wogonin	50
4.5 The effect of cytochalasin B on Fgf23 mRNA expression in UMR 106 cells	51
4.6 Rac1 and PAK1 inhibitor blocked vitamin D-induced Fgf23 mRNA expression	
in UMR 106 cells	52
5. Discussion	55
6. Conclusion	62
7. References	63

List of figures

Fig. 1: Structure of FGF23, adapted from Saito T <i>et al, Int J Pediatr Endocrinol.</i> 2009.	2
Fig. 2: Formation of heterotrimer complex of FGF23 with FGFR and klotho to	
transmit signal, adapted from Saito T et al. Int J Pediatr Endocrinol.2009.	6
Fig. 3: Schematic illustration for the functions of EGE23 in kidney and extra renal	•
organs adapted from Martin A et al. Physiol Rev. 2012	8
Fig. 4: Various factors involved in CKD-MBD, adapted from Silver. Let al. Nenbrol	0
Dial Transnlant 2012	11
Fig. 5: Schomatic diagram showing relationship between ECE23 vitamin D. DTH	
adeium and phosphorus, adapted from Liu S of al. 1 Am Soc Nonbrol 2006	11
Fig. 6: Inhibition of CSK2 by inculin signaling nothway which regulate glycogon	14
rig. 6. Initibilition of GSKS by insulin signaling pathway which regulate giveogen	47
Synthesis and protein synthesis, adapted from Cohen P et al, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell	17
Fig. 7: Signal transduction to the actin cytoskeleton triggers a variety of cell.	40
response, adapted from Papakonstanti EA and Stournaras C, FEBS let, 2008.	19
Fig. 8: The serum FGF23 level is elevated in $gsk-3^{\circ}$ mice compared to gsk -	~-
	35
Fig. 9: Renal α -Klotho abundance in gsk-3° mice and gsk-3° mice.	36
Fig. 10: Enhanced urinary excretion of epinephrine and vanillylmandelic acid	
(VMA) in $gsk-3^{\prime\prime}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{\prime\prime\prime}$ mice.	37
Fig. 11: β -blocker propranolol lowers systolic blood pressure in <i>gsk-3^{kl}</i> mice.	38
Fig. 12: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on GFR in $qsk-3^{kl}$ mice.	39
Fig. 13: β-blocker propranolol reduces the serum C-term FGF23 level in <i>qsk</i> -	40
3^{KI} mice.	
Fig. 14: Effects of 8-blocker propranolol on the serum intact FGF23 level in	41
$ask-3^{Kl}$ mice.	
Fig. 15: B-blocker propranolol down-regulates Egf23 transcription in UMR	42
106 cells	
Fig. 16: Effects of B-blocker propranolol on the serum calcitriol level in ask-	43
	-10
Fig. 17: β -blocker propranolol decreases the renal phosphate wasting of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice	44
Fig. 18: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on the plasma PTH level in gsk-3 ^{Kl}	45
mice.	
Fig. 19: β -blocker propranolol decreases the renal calcium excretion of $gsk-3^{\kappa}$ mice.	46
Fig. 20: $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ induces polymerization of the actin cytoskeleton in	48
UMR106 cells.	

Fig. 21: Confocal microscopy image illustrating 1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ -induced actin stress fiber formation in UMR 106 cells.	49
Fig. 22: $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced actin polymerization is blocked by NF- κ B	50
Fig. 23: 1.25(OH)2D3-induced Eqf23, transcription is inhibited by actin-disrupting	51
agent cytochalasin B	51
Fig. 24: 1.25(OH)-D-induced Eaf23 transcription is inhibited by Pac1 and PAK1	53
inhibitor.	55
Fig. 25: 1,25(OH)2D3-induced actin polymerization is blocked by Rac1and PAK1	54
inhibitors.	
Fig. 26: GSK3-controlled sympathetic activity in FGF23 production.	58
Fig. 27: Fgf23 gene regulation by actin cytoskeleton reorganization.	61

List of tables

Table 1. Running buffer 10X	33
Table 2. Transfer buffer 10X	33
Table 3. TBS 10X	33
Table 4. Solution A for ECL (200ml)	33
Table 5. Solution B for ECL (10 ml)	33
Table 6. Working solution for ECL	34

Abbreviations

ABP ADHR	Actin binding protein Autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets
AOPP	Advanced oxidation protein products
BMD	Bone mineral density
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
Cyp24a1	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase
Cyp27b1	25-hydroxyvitamin D 1- α hydroxylase
DT	Distal tubules
Egr-1	Early growth response gene-1
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
Es RAGE	Endogenous soluble receptor of advance glycation end product
ESRD	End stage renal disease
FGF23	Fibroblast growth factor 23
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
GSK3	Glycogen synthase kinase 3
hsCRP	High-sensitivity C reactive protein
IL	Interleukin
IRS1	Insulin receptor substrate 1
IRS2	Insulin receptor 2
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LVH	Left ventricular hypertrophy
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaPi2a	Sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter 2a
NaPi2c	Sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter 2c
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B
PCT	Proximal convoluted tubule
PDK	Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase

PH	Pleckstrin homology
PHEX	Phosphate regulating endopeptidase homolog, X-linked
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
РКВ	Protein kinase B
PTG	Parathyroid gland
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
RAS	Renin-angiotensin system
Rac1	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SH2	Src-homology domain
SGK	Serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinase
SPC	Subtilisin-like proprotein convertase
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TIO	Tumor-induced osteomalacia
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
VDR	Vitamin D receptor

1. Introduction

Fibroblast growth factors (FGF) are a large family of secreted proteins. There are 22 members of this family which have been found in both human and mice (1). FGFs function by binding to FGF receptors (FGFR) and transduce signals by different pathways which are involved in the regulation of many cellular processes including differentiation, cell proliferation or migration (2).

1.1 FGF23

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23, a member of the FGF19 subfamily of the fibroblast growth factor, has been proposed as a potent regulator of mineral ion homeostasis (3-6). FGF23 is a ~ 32 kDa secreted protein of 251 amino acids, which has a hydrophobic signal sequence (~24 amino acids), a N-terminal FGF core homology domain (155 amino acids), and a C-terminal domain (72 amino acids). Human cDNA encoding FGF23 (251 amino acids) highly resembles (~72% amino acid identity) to mouse FGF23. Human Fqf23 gene is localized on the chromosome 12p13 and is mainly expressed in osteocytes (7-10). The C-terminal domain is necessary for the interaction with the FGFR. The proteolytic cleavage site (176RXXR179) is found between N- and C-terminal domain (11) (Fig.1). The FGF23 protein is proteolytically cleaved and this processing occurs intracellularly, either before or during the secretion of FGF23 (12). Abnormalities of bone and mineral metabolism are associated with increased risk of mortality in chronic kidney diseases (CKD) including; hyperphosphatemia (13, 14), hypoand hypercalcemia (15), hypo and hyperparathyroidism (16) and hyperphosphatasemia (17). Inorganic phosphate is an important factor in intracellular signaling, DNA synthesis and metabolism. In spite of its biological significance, regulation of phosphate homeostasis is not clear. A mutation in phosphate regulating endopeptidase homolog, X-linked (PHEX) causes X-linked hypophosphatemia (XLH) (18) and autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) is caused by mutation

in FGF23 (19, 20), have been considered important regulators of phosphate homeostasis.



Fig. 1: Structure of FGF23. FGF23 is a secreted protein consists of 251 amino acids. C-terminal FGF23 is the inactive form which is proteolytically cleaved between Arg¹⁷⁹ and Ser¹⁸⁰ from intact FGF23 which is the biologically active form, adapted from Saito T *et al, Int J Pediatr Endocrinol.* 2009 (21).

1.2 Discovery of FGF23

Hypophosphatemic diseases in the many parts of the world have been caused by malnutrition and vitamin D deficiency. The most common cause of vitamin D resistant rickets is X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (XLH) and other diseases, include autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) and tumor-induced osteomalacia (TIO) with similar phenotypes (22). The murine analogue of human (FGF23) was cloned for the first time in 2000 in mice (7). It has been shown that ADHR

is caused by mutation on chromosome 12p13.3 and the mutated gene encodes the 251 amino acid human FGF23 protein (6, 19, 20). Analysis of the structure revealed that mutations occurred in ADHR were situated within a subtilisin-like proprotein convertase (SPC) cleavage site in FGF23 that renders the protein resistant to degradation, resulting in increased serum levels of active FGF23 and hypophosphatemia due to increasing urinary Pi loss in ADHR patients (6, 12, 23). Tumor-induced osteomalacia (TIO) was thought as a vitamin D resistant osteomalacia causing hypophosphatemia which was cured by the removal of tumor (22, 24). Transplantation of these tumors into wild type mice caused hypophosphatemia with a production of a phosphaturic factor that can suppress $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and decrease renal Pi reabsorption (25, 26). Further, a mutation in FGF23 is responsible for ADHR, at the same time the FGF23 protein was shown to be produced in TIO (20, 27, 28).

1.3 Source of FGF23

FGF23 is expressed primarily in bone, thymus, brain, lymph nodes and to a lesser extent in heart, skeletal muscle, spleen, thyroid/parathyroid gland, lung and testis (4, 7, 8, 10, 28). In bone, FGF23 is mainly localized to osteocytes and osteoblasts (8, 10). In the brain, expression of FGF23 was found in the ventrolateral thalamic nuclei (7).

1.4 Phenotypes of Fgf23 mice

1.4.1 Fgf23 deficient mice

To interpret the physiological roles of FGF23 in mice, *Fgf*23 knockout mice were generated by Shimada et al., in 2004 (3). FGF23 is produced from bone (29, 30) and its biological function depends on the interaction with a cofactor protein called Klotho (31-33). *Fgf*23 knockout mice suffer from severe hyperphosphatemia and elevated levels of

 $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ due to enhanced renal 1α -hydroxylase expression and abnormalities in skeletal muscle (4). Genetic deletion of Fgf23 results in aging like phenotypes similar to human premature aging, including growth retardation, infertility, atherosclerosis, massive soft tissue calcifications, atrophy of multiple organ systems together with hypoglycemia and increased peripheral insulin sensitivity, disorder of phosphate and vitamin D metabolism, pulmonary emphysema, osteoporosis, and a severely shortened lifespan (3, 4, 34).

1.4.2 Fgf23 transgenic mice

A previous study suggested that recombinant FGF23 was able to enhance urinary phosphate excretion and lower serum $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ when given in vivo (3). Overexpressing human wild-type FGF23 in transgenic mice exhibited hypophosphatemia and enhanced renal phosphate excretion which was accompanied by reduced expression of the sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter types IIa (NaPi-2a) and IIc (NaPi-2c) in the kidney (35). Renal phosphate loss resulted in skeletal abnormalities and reduced bone mineral density (BMD) in these transgenic mice (35, 36). Similarly, transgenic mice over expressing mutant form of FGF23 (human (R176Q)), which is resistant to degradation by furin-like proteases, displayed more pronounced hypophosphatemia and rickets/osteomalacia compared to animals expressing the wild-type FGF23 (37-39).

4

1.5 Function of FGF23

1.5.1 FGF23 and Klotho

FGF23 is produced by the bone and acts on kidney and transduces signals through FGF receptors (FGFR) (4, 10, 40, 41). There are four FGFRs and several subtypes formed as a result of alternative splicing. Although FGFRs differ in tissue expression, activity and ligand binding, all members of the receptor belong to tyrosine kinase family (42). However, binding affinity of FGF23 to its receptors (FGFRs) is poor (32). Following administration of recombinant FGF23 in mice, it was found that FGF23 binds to klotho, an aging counteracter, membrane-bound protein and induces the early growth response gene -1 (Egr-1) expression and ERK phosphorylation in the kidney, the parathyroid and pituitary gland (32). Klotho deficient mice and Fgf23 deficient mice both display high 1,25(OH)₂D₃ levels, hyperphosphatemia, a shortened life span and severe aging phenotypes (3, 4, 43). Kurosu et al. have shown that Klotho complexed with FGFR1c, 3c and 4, FGF23 bound tightly and transduce signal to the target organ (31). An in vivo study demonstrated that Klotho converted the FGFR1c to a functional FGF23 receptor and Klotho acts as a co-receptor for FGF23 signaling (32). The importance of the FGFR1 in FGF23 signaling has further been supported by *in vivo* studies of FGFR3/4 null mice and conditional knock-out of FGFR1 mice (44). FGF23 signaling, requires FGFR1c and Klotho form a complex with FGF23 (Fig. 2), which is trimerized and stabilized by heparin sulphates as seen in other FGFR signaling complexes (45)



Fig. 2: Formation of heterotrimer complex of FGF23 with FGFR and klotho to transmit signal. To mediate renal effects, FGF23 bind to its receptor which requires Klotho as a co-receptor and form a complex, adapted from Saito T *et al, Int J Pediatr Endocrinol.* 2009 (21).

1.5.2 Renal functions of FGF23

Excessive FGF23 leads to hypophosphatemia, abnormal vitamin D metabolism, impaired growth and rickets/osteomalacia (35, 38, 46). Fgf23 deficient mice results in hyperphosphatemia, excess $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and calcification of soft tissues (3, 8). The kidney is the major target organ of FGF23 actions, deregulation of FGF23 can lead to various disorders. Renal functions of FGF23 are given below:

1.5.3 Vitamin D metabolism

FGF23 functions as counter regulatory hormone of vitamin D (47). Cyp27b1 and Cyp24a1 are key renal enzymes which are responsible for the synthesis of the bioactive form of vitamin D and degradation of the bioactive form of vitamin D respectively (21, 40). FGF23 can influence circulating vitamin D levels through suppression of 25-

hydroxyvitamin D 1- α -hydroxylase (*Cyp27b1*) and stimulation of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase (*Cyp24a1*) in the proximal tubules which results in decreased serum concentration of 1,25(OH)₂D₃, the biologically-active form of vitamin D (28, 35, 38, 48-50). FGF23 stimulates 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase Cyp24a1 expression (50) that leads to the reduction of serum 1,25(OH)₂D₃ levels are vitamin D receptor (VDR) dependent (51). Recombinant FGF23 injected into wild type mice reduces renal expression of Cyp27b1 dose-dependently and its effect on Cyp27b1 gene expression is ERK1/2 dependent (52). On the other hand, up regulation of Cyp27b1 mRNA expression is associated with higher FGF23 levels (53, 54). These studies suggest that the effect of FGF23 on the enzymes that are responsible for synthesis and degradation of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ depends on the circulatory FGF23 concentrations (3, 38, 50, 55).

1.5.4 Phosphate reabsorption

Cross-organ communication between kidneys, intestine and bones play a central role in phosphate homeostasis (56). It adjusts intestinal absorption of phosphate from the diet and renal reabsorption / excretion of phosphate that typically regulate phosphate balance. Phosphate reabsorption is taken place in the renal proximal tubule (Fig. 3) (40). The intestinal absorption and renal reabsorption of phosphate is mediated by sodium-dependent phosphate transporter system that includes NaPi-2a (kidney), NaPi-2b (intestine) and NaPi-2c (kidney) (57-61). It has been reported that FGF23 inhibits the expression of NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c which induces renal phosphate excretion (44, 50). Transgenic mice over expressing Fgf23 have severe hypophosphatemia due to the reduction of renal NaPi co transporters expression (36, 38). On the other hand, Fgf23 knockout mice suffer from hyperphosphatemia and soft tissue calcification with enhanced renal NaPi-2a abundance (4, 62). Reduced renal NaPi-2a expression restores the biological effects of FGF23 in Fgf23 null mice significantly reversed hyperphosphatemia to hypophosphatemia and prevent calcification (63)



Fig. 3: Schematic illustration for the functions of FGF23 in kidney and extra renal organs. (A) FGF23 activates FGFR/Klotho complex which lead to the inhibition of tubular phosphate reabsorption by inhibiting Npt2a. FGF23 inhibits Cyp27b1 in the proximal convoluted tubule (PCT), a key enzyme responsible for $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ synthesis and stimulate Cyp24a1 which favor catabolism of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$. Therefore, both phosphate and $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ levels are decreased. (B) Extra renal targets of FGF23 are those tissue or organ which express FGFR and klotho i.e Bone, heart, brain, thymus, spleen and parathyroid gland (PT) which mediate possible effects of FGF23, adapted from Martin A *et al*, *Physiol Rev. 2012* (40).

1.6 FGF23 and diseases

1.6.1 Possible role of FGF23 in the premature aging

Pathophysiology of aging is a complex biological process that involves multi-organ and multi-system pathologies (64-66). *Klotho* mutant mice display multiple aging-like features including shortened lifespan, infertility, skin atrophy, soft tissue calcification, atherosclerosis, muscles wasting, disorder of mineral ion metabolism and aberrant vitamin D metabolism (67, 68). A recent study suggests that aging like phenotypes in

klotho knockout mice are the consequence of abnormal mineral metabolism due to inability of *Fgf23* gene function in these mice (69). Ablation of *Fgf23* shares same phenotypes as found in the *klotho* null mice (70). Thus, common phenotypes of these mice are due to either absence (*Fgf23* null mice) or lack of FGF23 activity (*klotho* mutant mice) (71).

1.6.2 Hypervitaminosis-D and premature aging in Fgf23 mutant mice

Both *klotho* and *Fgf23* deficient mice show up-regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D 1- α -hydroxylase (*Cyp27b1*) in the kidney and thereby increased serum levels of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (3, 4, 72), which are associated with aging like-features. The premature aging like-phenotypes in these mutants were rescued by feeding a vitamin-D deficient diet (73, 74) or genetically disrupting vitamin-D activities from *Fgf23* mice (70, 73). By deleting 1- α hydroxylase gene from *Fgf23* null mice, which is responsible for calcitriol synthesis, most of the phenotypes were ameliorated in *Fgf23/1-\alpha* hydroxylase double knockout mice (70, 75). Thus, most of the aging like-features in *Fgf23* and *klotho* null mice are due to abnormal mineral metabolism caused at least in part by hypervitaminosis-D (70, 76, 77).

1.6.3 Hyperphosphatemia and aging

Renal NaPi2a regulates plasma and urinary phosphate balance (60, 62). Renal abundance of NaPi2a is up-regulated by the stimulation of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and is decreased by FGF23 and PTH (60, 78). Similarly NaPi2b expression in the intestine is increased by $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (79). It has already been shown that NaPi2a renal expression is increased in *Fgf23* mutant mice (72) and similar results were also found in *klotho* deficient mice (80). Accelerated aging directly or indirectly depend on the hyperphosphatemia in experimental animals, as feeding them a low-phosphate or low-vitamin D diet greatly expands their life span (81). The *klotho* deficient mice show excessive phosphate retention which cause hyperphosphatemia and thereby reduced survival (67, 68, 82-87). Age-related phenotypes of *klotho* deficient mice could be

suppressed and thereby extending lifespan by reducing phosphate burden *via* inhibiting renal NaPi2a activities by generating *NaPi2a/klotho* double knockout mice (86). When these mice were fed a with high phosphate diet these mice experienced accelerated aging like phenotypes, as seen in the klotho deficient mice (86, 88). The *klotho* deficient mice are infertile. Phosphate restriction of these mice regained fertility, as evidenced in *NaPi2a/klotho* double knockout mice (88). When these mice were given high phosphate diet, they became infertile, pointing that phosphate may affect reproductive abilities and thereby accelerate aging process (86).

1.6.4 FGF23 and chronic kidney disease (CKD)

Elevated levels of FGF23 is one of the earliest indications of abnormal bone-mineral metabolism in CKD (89). Serum FGF23 levels increase as a result of progressive loss of renal function and this level can be increased by 100-1000 fold times higher than in healthy controls by the time patients require dialysis (90). A recent study revealed that FGF23 levels increase as glomerular filtration rate (GFR) declines during the progression of CKD (91) and this report demonstrated that the elevation of FGF23 develops before that of parathyroid hormone (PTH) and serum phosphate (89). Even though with elevated levels of FGF23, CKD patients do suffer from hyperphosphatemia (92). Patients with CKD can develop secondary hyperthyroidism due to failure of FGF23 to maintain normal serum phosphate levels. However, the mechanism of increased FGF23 levels in patients with CKD is not fully known. Elevated FGF23 levels in patients with CKD could results from reduced renal clearance of FGF23 (93) and enhanced production of FGF23 that counteract hyperphosphatemia. This hypothesis is supported by phosphate loading which results in increased FGF23 levels (94). Calcitriol therapy in patients with CKD might also lead to increasing levels of FGF23 (95). It has been reported that both phosphorous and calcitriol could increase serum FGF23 levels (76). As elevated FGF23 levels are associated with increased excretion of phosphate and low vitamin D (47, 96), therefore, the elevated levels of FGF23 in patients with CKD can develop secondary hyperthyroidism by decreasing 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (96, 97). The interaction of FGF23 and parathyroid hormone is a complex process that has not yet been clearly

understood. Several studies have demonstrated that PTH stimulates FGF23 production (98, 99), however FGF23 was also shown to reduce PTH synthesis (100, 101).



Fig. 4: Various factors involved in CKD-MBD. In advanced CKD, dietary phosphate and PTH stimulate FGF23 release and FGF23 decreases serum calcitriol that is which in turn secrete PTH. The higher level of PTH also releases low-molecular weight FGFs through parathyroid hormone receptor (PTHR) that act on canonical FGFRs to increase FGF23. The high FGF23 levels act on FGFRs in the heart activating PLCγ calcineurin contributing to the left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) in these patients. Hyperphosphatemia and reduced soluble klotho are factors involved in vascular calcification of soft tissue of CKD patients, adapted from Silver *J et al, Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2012* (102).

1.6.5 FGF23 and cardiovascular diseases (CVD)

Elevated FGF23 levels are associated with CVD, including left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), arterial stiffness, vascular calcifications, endothelial dysfunction and increased levels of inflammatory markers (103-107). LVH is a common cardiovascular disorder and the major risk factor for cardiovascular death in patients with end stage renal disease (ESRD) (108-110). FGF23 is associated with LVH (104). However, it is still ill-defined, whether the effect is direct or indirect on heart. An *in-vivo* study has shown that FGF23 directly induces LVH through the activation of FGF receptors (103) and the effect was klotho independent, as myocardial cells do not express klotho, a co-receptor of FGF23. However, Agarwal et al. have shown that klotho deficient mice did not have LVH in comparison to 1- α hydroxylase deficient mice (111). Several other studies have raised question if there is a direct effect of FGF23 on the myocardium (112-114). Further studies are required to answer this question.

1.6.6 Inflammation and oxidative stress

Inflammatory markers are known risk factors for cardiovascular diseases in CKD patients. *In vivo* experiments have reported that FGF23 increases the production of inflammatory markers i.e lipocalin-2, TGF- β and TNF (115). It has been shown that FGF23 is strongly correlated with interlukin-6, TNF- α , high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), endogenous soluble receptor of advanced glycation end products (esRAGE), advanced oxidation protein products (AOPP) in CKD patients (106, 116).

1.6.7 FGF23 and vascular calcification

Vascular calcification is the accumulation of phosphate and calcium in the blood vessels and soft tissue. The major factor of mortality in CKD is cardiovascular diseases and vascular calcification (117, 118). Accumulating evidence suggests that high serum phosphate levels associated with vascular calcification in CKD patients (119, 120). Transport of Pi by Na-dependent phosphate transporter (NaPill) up-regulates osteogenic genes and causes vascular calcification (121, 122). High serum FGF23 is associated with declining kidney function. Clinical observations in a several studies have found a positive association with serum FGF23 and vascular calcification in patients with CKD and ESRD (123-125)

1.7 Regulation of FGF23

In normal individuals, low levels of FGF23 are detected in the circulation, but levels are increased in response to phosphate loading, vitamin D administration, renal failure, and in several hereditary and acquired hypophosphatemic disorders (20, 76, 89, 126)

1.7.1 Regulation by 1,25(OH)₂D₃

1,25(OH)₂D₃ is the most important regulator of FGF23. In vivo studies, have shown 1,25(OH)₂D₃ increases circulating FGF23 levels. 1,25 (OH)₂D₃ increases the transcription of FGF23 in osteoblasts / osteocytes and this action is mediated by a vitamin D receptor (VDR), while disturbance of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ pathway decreases circulating FGF23 in mice (47, 76, 95). It has been suggested that FGF23 acts as a counter regulatory hormone for $1,25(OH)_2D_3$, which maintains phosphate balance by vitamin D-mediated suppression of PTH and increased intestinal phosphate absorption (127). In the gastrointestinal tract 1,25(OH)₂D₃ enhances calcium and phosphate absorption (Fig. 5). Increases in calcium, as well as 1,25(OH)₂D₃ itself suppress PTH in the parathyroid gland, which in turn acts on the kidney and enhance renal calcium excretion to maintain neutral calcium balance (40, 47, 127). However, reduced PTH levels, limits kidney function to excrete increased phosphate absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract (47). FGF23 expression can be regulated by both VDR-dependent and VDR-independent signaling pathway. VDR null mice exhibited undetectable FGF23 levels, pointing the importance of VDR in the regulation of FGF23 (48, 128). On the other hand, dietary phosphate increased FGF23 levels in VDR null mice, suggesting

that regulation of FGF23 is also mediated by a VDR-independent pathway (35, 36, 50, 129).

1.7.2 Regulation by phosphate

The effect of dietary phosphorus on serum FGF23 levels and production by osteocytes /osteoblasts are conflicting.



Fig. 5: Schematic diagram showing relationship between FGF23, vitamin D, PTH, calcium and phosphorus. $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ causes suppression of PTH and increases intestinal calcium absorption. $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ also stimulates phosphate absorption. Regulation of FGF23 production by dietary phosphate in bone likely occurs through unknown intermediate steps, because hyperphosphatemia *per se* does not directly stimulate FGF23 production by osteoblasts, adapted from Liu S *et al, J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006* (47).

Several observations have been shown that phosphate loading increases serum FGF23 levels in mice and in human subjects (76, 130, 131), whereas, two other studies have failed to demonstrate increased in serum FGF23 levels in response to phosphate loading (90, 132). Phosphate restriction has been shown to decrease circulating FGF23 levels (133). Based on current understanding it appears that the mechanism of FGF23 regulation by phosphate may be complex and indirect.

1.7.3 Regulation by PTH

In a mice model of primary hyperparathyroidism, FGF23 levels are increased (98), while decreased FGF23 has been shown after parathyroidectomy (134). PTH increased FGF23 mRNA levels directly in rat osteoblast-like UMR 106 cells (135). However, PTH failed to increase FGF23 production in ROS 17/2.8 osteoblast-like cells (47) or in calvarial culture (136). Patients with hypoparathyroidism (137) and PTH null mice (138) exhibit increased levels of FGF23. On the other hand vitamin D deficient mice display extremely low levels of FGF23, despite elevated levels of PTH (51, 139) and PTH null mice can restore FGF23 production after injection of vitamin D (47). Thus, regulation of FGF23 by PTH may be dependent on vitamin D.

1.7.4 Regulation by bone-derived factors

Bone is the main site of expression of FGF23 pointing the probability of important local regulators of FGF23. PHEX is expressed mainly by osteoblasts and osteocytes in bone (40). Increased production of FGF23 by osteocytes, has been found in a study due to inactivating mutations of PHEX (8), indicating that PHEX may somehow regulate the biosynthesis of FGF23. Initially, FGF23 was presumed to be a substrate for PHEX but recent findings suggest that FGF23 is not a direct substrate for PHEX, rather PHEX can regulate Fgf23 gene expression possibly through the action of unknown PHEX substrates or other downstream effectors (10). Like PHEX, dentin matrix protein (DMP) 1 is also predominantly expressed by osteoblast and osteocytes in bone. DMP1 regulates extracellular matrix mineralization (140). Inactivation mutation of DMP1 displays increased FGF23 production in bone (141).

1.7.5 Other regulators

Recently, iron has been considered a regulator of FGF23. But still it's role is enigmatic (142-146). Sympathetic nervous system is also involved in the regulation of FGF23, since FGF23 expression is triggered by sympathetic activation (147).

1.8 GSK3 signaling

1.8.1 GSK3

Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3) is a downstream signaling molecule of PI3K and PKB/Akt and is a serine/threonine protein kinase that participates in the regulation of glycogen metabolism (148). GSK3 was first identified as a protein kinase that phosphorylates and thus inactivates glycogen synthase, the key enzyme in glycogen biosynthesis (149). GSK3 was isolated and purified from rabbit skeletal muscle (150). Woodgett JR et al. have found by cloning that GSK3 has two closely related isoforms, GSK3 α and GSK3 β , which are expressed ubiquitously in mammalian tissues (151, 152). Besides glycogen metabolism, GSK3 has important roles in the regulation of cellular processes including; cell proliferation, differentiation microtubule dynamics, cell cycle and apoptosis (153). Aberrant GSK3 signaling plays roles in the pathophysiology of diabetes, cancer, inflammation, neurological disorders and cancer (154, 155).

1.8.2 Regulation of GSK3 by insulin and growth factors

It was first thought that inhibition of GSK3 might be the cause of insulin-induced dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase (156) and later on it was confirmed that insulin stimulates the dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase at sites where phosphorylated by GSK3 (157) and as a result insulin inhibits GSK3 acutely (158, 159). Well known mechanism through which GSK3 is inhibited by insulin results from its phosphorylation at Ser⁹ in GSK3 β and Ser²¹ in GSK α and that is catalyzed by PKB (160). Insulin stimulates PI3K which, in turn activate PKB/Akt and serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinase (SGK) isoforms (161, 162). In a cascade of signal transduction GSK3 is phosphorylated and thus inactivated by PKB (163) and SGK1 (164). By activating protein phosphatase insulin may stimulates dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase (165) (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6: Inhibition of GSK3 by insulin signaling pathway which regulate glycogen synthesis and protein synthesis. Insulin binds to its receptor and activates the intrinsic protein tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor. Phosphotyrosine (pY) residue interacts with insulin receptor substrate proteins (IRS1 and IRS2) and recruiting them to the plasma membrane. Then, insulin receptor substrate (IRS) interacts with p85 subunit of PI3K and recruits them to the plasma membrane. PI3K catalyses the formation of phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃) from PtdIns(4,5)P₂. PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ binds to PDK1 and PKB/Akt, engage them at the membrane and allowing PDK1 to activate PKB/Akt. Once PKB/Akt is activated, in turn, phosphorylates and inhibits GSK3, adapted from Cohen P et *al, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2001* GSK3 (148).

1.8.3 GSK3 and sympathetic nervous activity

Insulin regulates glucose metabolism. It also plays a role in renal phosphate handling (166). Cellular insulin effects are mediated by PI3K dependent PKB/SGK isoform activation (161, 162). To reveal physiological importance of PKB/SGK dependent regulation of GSK3, gene-targeted mice were generated in which serine residue was replaced by alanine (GSK3 $\alpha^{21A/21A}$, GSK3 $\beta^{9A/9A}$) within the PKB/Akt phosphorylation

site. GSK3 α/β mice carrying this mutation make the kinase insensitive to the inhibitory effect of PKB/Akt. Therefore, *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice carrying mutations are protected from the inhibitory effect of insulin (167). In mice carrying these mutations (*gsk-3^{Kl}*), plasma phosphate concentration was significantly lower and urinary phosphate excretion significantly higher than in the corresponding wild type mice (*gsk-3^{WT}*) (168). It has been reported that arterial blood pressure is enhanced in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice as compared to wild type mice (169, 170) and by the treatment with α -adrenergic antagonist prazosin enhanced blood pressure could be lowered which indicate to having sympathetic nerve activity (171). Epinephrine is a marker of sympathetic nervous activity. *Gsk-3^{Kl}* mice show increased levels of plasma and urine epinephrine levels (172).

1.9 Actin cytoskeleton

Actin cytoskeleton is a cellular network within the cytoplasm which provides the cell shape, functional support and mechanical strength (173, 174), directs locomotion, regulates chromosome separation during mitosis and meiosis, intracellular transport of organelles in cells (175, 176). There are three main components of actin cytoskeleton in eukaryotic cells (actin microfilaments, microtubules and intermediate filaments). Actin microfilament is composed of monomeric (G-actin) and filamentous (F-actin) actin that constitute actin cytoskeleton along with ABP (actin-binding protein) (177). Actin microfilament consisting of highly polarized plus (barbed) end and minus (pointed) end. Actin exists within the cells in a dynamic transition of polymerization and deploymerization. At steady state F-actin grows fast at the barbed end by the adding of ATP-bound G-actin than does the pointed end where depolymerization occur by dissociation of ADP-bound G-actin. Actin can be polymerized or depolymerized by exchange of ATP or hydrolysis of ATP (178, 179).

1.9.1 Rho GTPase and actin cytoskeleton

Rho GTPase is a crucial regulator in the actin signaling pathway that links extracellular or intracellular signals to the assembly of actin cytoskeleton. Actin reorganization, following the modification of actin polymerization is a cellular response initiated by various signals including growth factors, cytokines and hormones (Fig. 7) which transmit signal through Rho-family GTPase in particular Rho, Rac and Cdc42 (180, 181). Actin cytoskeleton dependent cellular process including cytokinesis (182), cell migration (183) and endo/exocytosis (184) is severely impaired during dominant negative mutation in Rho-GTPase. Cofilin is phosphorylated by LIM kinase which reduces its actin-binding activity. LIM kinase is phosphorylated by ROCK that is regulated by Rho-GTPase (185, 186).



Fig. 7: Signal transduction to the actin cytoskeleton triggers a variety of cell response. Extracellular stimuli lead to the activation of membrane receptors which transmits signals to the actin cytoskeleton by specific actin signaling molecules. Alternation of actin cytoskeleton dynamics have been implicated in cellular outcomes including survival, secretion, proliferation and apoptosis and motility, Adapted from Papakonstanti EA and Stournaras C, *FEBS let, 2008*(187).

1.9.2 Rho GTPase and PI3K

Importance of PI3-kinase in cell survival and in actin restructuring has been described (188, 189). Rho GTPase associates with PI-kinase and control actin cytoskeleton reorganization. PI3K phosphorylates inisitol and forms the lipid products PIP2 and PIP3. These lipids then activate the signaling cascade of downstream effectors PKB/Akt or small GTPase Cdc42 and Rac1 (188). Rac1, in turn, promotes actin polymerization and changes cell morphology (190, 191)

1.9.3 Actin cytoskeleton and diseases

The dynamic reorganization of actin cytoskeleton is very crucial for cellular processes. During infection many pathogens hijack host cell actin cytoskeleton and disrupt cytoskeleton rapidly (192). Alternation in the actin cytoskeleton dynamics govern cellular outcomes which have been linked to human diseases, including muscular dystrophy (193, 194), liver diseases (195) and cancer metastasis and invasion (196, 197). Altered regulation of actin cytoskeleton is associated with neurological disorders and ischemic kidney disease. In Alzheimer's disease deregulation of ADF/cofilin was observed (198, 199).
2. Aim of the study

FGF23 is a phosphaturic hormone which regulates mineral homeostasis and vitamin D metabolism. Mice expressing PKB/Akt resistant *gsk-3^{ki}* show hypophosphatemia, renal phosphate loss and sympathetic nervous activation. It has been reported that insulin dependent PI3K signaling involved in the regulation of phosphate transport. Phosphaturia in these mice could be due to the inhibitory effects of GSK3 on the renal phosphate transporter NaPi2a, but in addition, FGF23 could be involved. Sympathetic activation of the nervous system and vitamin D stimulate FGF23 secretion. Vitamin D has been implicated in actin cytoskeleton reorganization. Based on this hypothesis, the present study was conducted to investigate

- 1. Whether GSK3-controlled sympathetic activity is involved in the regulation of FGF23 production.
- 2. Whether FGF23 gene transcription is regulated by actin cytoskeleton.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Chemicals and reagents

1,25(OH)2D3Enzo life science, New York, USA30% AcrylamideCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyAmersham hyperfilmGE Healthcare, München, GermanyAmmonium persulfateSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAAnti-Klotho (rat polyclonal IgGKyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japanantibody)Cell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rat HRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rat HRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Name	Company name and country of origin
30% AcrylamideCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyAmersham hyperfilmGE Healthcare, München, GermanyAmmonium persulfateSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAAnti-Klotho (rat polyclonal IgGKyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japanantibody)Cell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rat HRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rat HRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	Enzo life science, New York, USA
Amersham hyperfilmGE Healthcare, München, GermanyAmmonium persulfateSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAAnti-Klotho (rat polyclonal IgGKyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japanantibody)Anti-GAPDHCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rat HRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyBradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	30% Acrylamide	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Ammonium persulfateSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAAnti-Klotho(ratpolyclonalIgGKyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japanantibody)Anti-GAPDHCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRPconjugateInkedantibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRPconjugateInkedantibodyBradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEdthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Amersham hyperfilm	GE Healthcare, München, Germany
Anti-Klotho(ratpolyclonalIgGKyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japanantibody)Anti-GAPDHCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRPconjugatelinkedantibodyCell Signaling Technology, USABradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Ammonium persulfate	Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
antibody)Cell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-GAPDHCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRP conjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyBio-Rad, München, GermanyBradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTSigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Anti-Klotho (rat polyclonal IgG	Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japan
Anti-GAPDHCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRPconjugate linkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyEdl Signaling Technology, USABradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	antibody)	
Anti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibodyCell Signaling Technology, USAAnti-ratHRPconjugatelinkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyEvell Signaling Technology, USABradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Anti-GAPDH Cell Signaling Technology, USA	
Anti-ratHRPconjugatelinkedCell Signaling Technology, USAantibodyBio-Rad, München, GermanyBradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Anti-rabbit HRP- conjugate antibody	Cell Signaling Technology, USA
antibodyBradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Anti-rat HRP conjugate linked	Cell Signaling Technology, USA
Bradford protein assayBio-Rad, München, GermanyBovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	antibody	
Bovine serum albumin (BSA)Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Bradford protein assay Bio-Rad, München, Germany	
ChloroformCarl Roth, Karlsruhe, GermanyCytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Bovine serum albumin (BSA)	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Cytochalasin BTOCRIS, Bristol, UKDiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Chloroform	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
DiethyletherRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyDMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Cytochalasin B TOCRIS, Bristol, UK	
DMEMInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyDTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Diethylether Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany	
DTTInvitrogen, Darmstadt, GermanyEDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	DMEM Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany	
EDTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	DTT Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany	
EthanolRoth, Karlsruhe, GermanyEGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	EDTA Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA	
EGTASigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USAEnhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Ethanol	Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)GE Healthcare, München, GermanyFBSGibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	EGTA	Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
FBS Gibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany	Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)	GE Healthcare, München, Germany
	FBS	Gibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany

Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Tocris, Bristol, UK
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Whatman, Maidstone, UK
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
PAA Laboratories, Cölbe, Germany
PAA Laboratories, Cölbe, Germany
PeqLab, Erlangen, Germany
PeqLab, Erlangen, Germany
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany
ThermoScientific,Waltham,Massachusetts,USA
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Tocris, Bristol, UK
Life Technologies, USA
Cell Signaling Technology, USA
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA

Trypsin-EDTA TritonX100 Tween 20 Wogonin PAA Laboratories, Cölbe, Germany Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Enzo life science

3.1.2 Kits

- 1. 1,25(OH)₂D₃ EIA Kit (Immunodiagnostic Systems, Boldon, UK).
- 2. FGF23 (c-term) ELISA Kit (Immutopics International, California, USA).
- 3. Intact FGF23 ELISA kit (Kainos Laboratories, Tokyo, Japan).
- 4. Creatinin PAP, enzymatic (LT-SYS, Labor Technik, Germany).
- 5. Creatinine Jaffe, Kinetic (LT-SYS, Labor Technik, Germany).
- 6. Phos (inorganic phosphorus) (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany).
- 7. Mouse PTH 1-84 ELISA Kit (Immunotpics International, California, USA).
- 8. VanillyImandelic acid (VMA) ELISA Kit (IBL international, Hamburg, Germany).
- 9. Epinephrine ELISA kit (LDN, Germany).
- 10. SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis kits (Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany).

3.1.3 Equipments

Name	Company name and country of origin
CFX96 real-time system	Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany
BioPhotometer	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Biorad chemidoc XRS	Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany
Electrophoresis cell	Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany
Electrophoresis power supply	Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany
Electrophoretic transfer cell	Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany
Eppendorf centrifuge 5417c	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Eppendorf thermomixer 5436	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
ELISA plate reader (Power Wave XS2)	BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA

Heraeus cell culture hood	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham MA, USA
Heraeus cell culture incubator	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham MA, USA
Homogenize rotor	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Non-Invasive blood pressure amplifier	IITC life sciences, Los Angeles, USA
pH meter	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Power labs dual bio amps (ML135)	ADInstruments GmbH, Germany
Metabolic cage	Techniplast, Hohenpeissenberg, Germany
Flame photometry (ELEX 6361)	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Primus PCR instrument 25	Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany
Zeiss LSM 5 EXCITER confocal	Carl Zeiss, Germany
microscopy	

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Cells

Rat osteosarcoma cells UMR 106 were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) containing 4,5 g/l glucose, supplemented 10% fetal bovine serum FBS (Gibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany), 50 U/ml penicillin and 50 μ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco, Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) at 5% CO₂ and 37^o C . UMR 106 cells were pretreated with 100 nM 1,25(OH)₂D₃. After 42 h cells were treated with 100 nM cytochalasin B, 50 μ M Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 and 10 μ M IPA3 (TOCRIS, Bristol, UK), or with vehicle only for 6 h, and thereafter were harvested for RT-PCR. For some experiments, cells were treated with or without 150 μ M propranolol (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) over night (14-16 h) in the presence of 100 nM 1,25(OH)₂D₃. For Western blotting cells were treated with 100 nM 1,25(OH)₂D₃ for 15 min, 30 min and 24 h. For some experiments, cells were incubated with or without 100 μ M NF κ B inhibitor wogonin (Enzo Life Sciences, Germany) for 24 h and in addition treated with 100 nM 1,25(OH)₂D₃ or with vehicle for another 15 min. Alternatively, cells were treated with 50

 μ M Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 and 10 μ M PAK1 inhibitor IPA3 in presence or absence of 100 nM 1,25(OH)₂D₃ for 15 min.

3.2.2 Quantification of mRNA expression

Total RNA was isolated using peqGOLD TriFast (PeqLab Biotechnologie GmbH, Erlangen, Germany) reagent, a method which is based on a chloroform extraction protocol. The mRNA was transcribed with SuperScriptIII Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany) using random hexamers (Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed on a BioRad iCycler iQTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, München, Germany) using the following primers:

Tbp (TATA box-binding protein):

Forward primer (5'-3'): ACTCCTGCCACACCAGCC

Reverse primer (5'-3'): GGTCAAGTTTACAGCCAAGATTCA

Fgf23

Forward primer (5'-3'): TGGCCATGTAGACGGAACAC

Reverse primer (5'-3'): GGCCCCTATTATCACTACGGAG

The final volume of the PCR reaction mixture was 20 μ l and contained: 2 μ l cDNA, 1 μ M of each primer, 10 μ l GoTaq qPCR Master Mix (Promega, Mannheim, Germany) and sterile water up to 20 μ l. qPCR conditions were 95°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s and 58°C for 30 s. Calculated mRNA expression levels were normalized to the expression levels of *Tbp* of the same cDNA sample as internal reference. All PCRs were performed in duplicate. Relative quantification of gene expression was performed using the $\Delta\Delta c_t$ method.

3.2.3 Confocal microscopy

For actin staining, UMR 106 cells were cultured on glass chamber slides (BD biosciences) for 24 h and treated with or without 1,25(OH)2D3 (100 nM) for 15 min, 30 min and 24 h. After washing twice with PBS, cells were fixed with 4% PFA for 15 min at room temperature and then permeabilized with 0.03% Triton-X100 for 10 min. The cells were blocked with 3% BSA in PBST and incubated with rhodamine-phalloidin (1:200, Life Technologies, USA) for F-actin staining and with DRAQ-5 dye (1:3000, Biostatus, Leicestershire, UK) for nuclei staining for 30 min in the dark. After three washing steps, slides and coverslips were mounted with ProLong Gold antifade reagent (Life Technologies, USA). Images were taken on a Zeiss LSM 5 EXCITER confocal laser scanning microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany) with a water immersion Plan-Neofluar 40/1.3 NA DIC.

3.3 Mice

All animal experiments were conducted according to the German law for the welfare of animals and were approved by local authorities (Baden-Württemberg). Experiments have been performed with gene-targeted mice carrying a mutant GSK3 α , β , in which the codon encoding Ser9 of GSK3 β gene was changed to encode nonphosphorylable alanine (GSK3 $\beta^{9A/9A}$), and simultaneously the codon encoding Ser21 of GSK3 α was changed to encode the nonphosphorylable GSK3 $\alpha^{21A/21A}$ thus yielding the GSK3 $\alpha/\beta^{21A/21A/9A/9A}$ double knock in mouse (*gsk-3^{KI}*) as described previously (167). The mice were compared to corresponding wild type mice (*gsk-3^{WT}*). In this study, I have used *gsk-3^{KI}* mice and *gsk-3^{WT}* mice. The animals were genotyped by PCR using standard method. If not stated otherwise, mice were fed a control diet (Altromin 1310) and adlib access to drinking water.

3.3.1 Propranolol treatment

GSK3 wild type $(gsk-3^{WT})$ and GSK3 knock in $(gsk-3^{Kl})$ mice were treated with propranolol at dose of 500 mg/L for 7 days in drinking water. Blood was drawn before and after treatment with propranolol. Mice were fed a control diet (Altronin 1310). The mice were studied at the age of 2-5 months.

3.3.2 Blood chemistry

To obtain serum or plasma, animals were lightly anesthetized with diethyl ether (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and about 50 - 200 μ l of blood were drawn by puncturing the retroorbital plexus with capillaries before and after treatment with β -blocker propranolol at the dose of 500mg/L in drinking water for one week. Serum or plasma was separated by centrifugation of blood at 7000 rpm for 10 min at 4^oC and kept at -80°c until measurement.

3.3.3 FGF23 measurement

Serum FGF23 was measured by ELISA (Immutopics International, San Clemente, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, for the measurement of C-term FGF23 25 µl standard, control or samples were loaded into the designated or mapped well coated with anti-FGF23. Biotinylated antibody and HRP-conjugated antibody were added to each well in 1:1 ratio and the plate was sealed and then covered with aluminium foil to avoid exposure to light. After incubation at room temperature for 3 h on a rotator at 180-220 rpm, wells were washed three times with washing buffer. ELISA HRP substrate was added to each well and incubated another half an hour. After incubation period, stop solution was added and reading took at 450 nm against a reagent blank.

3.3.4 Calcitriol measurement

An EIA kit was employed to determine plasma concentrations of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (IDS, Boldon, UK). All experiments have done according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.3.5 Plasma PTH measurement

Plasma PTH concentration was measured by using mouse PTH 1-84 ELISA kit (Immutopics International, San Clemente, USA). Manufacturer's instructions were followed. Briefly, 20µl of plasma samples, standard and control were used into the designated antibody coated well. After that, mouse PTH 1-84 biotinylated antibody and mouse PTH 1-84 HRP conjugated antibody were added in 1:1 ratio into each well. The plate was covered with plate sealer and then wrapped with aluminium foil and incubated for 3 h at room temperature on a horizontal rotator at the speed of 180-220 rpm. Wells were washed five times with wash buffer and added 100 µl of ELISA HRP substrate into each well and incubated another half an hour. After adding ELISA stop solution into each of the wells, absorbance was measured by ELISA plate reader.

3.3.6 Serum calcium, phosphate and creatinine

Following serum parameters were measured. Serum Ca²⁺ was determined by flame photometry. Inorganic phosphate was measured by photometric method (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) and serum creatinine concentration by using an enzymatic colorimetric method (Labor & Technik, Berlin, Germany). All experiments have done according to the manufacturer's instruction.

3.3.7 Metabolic cage study

Both *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice and *gsk-3^{WT}* mice were placed individually in metabolic cages (Techniplast, Hohenpeissenberg, Germany) for the collection of 24 h urine to evaluate renal excretion. Mice were allowed a 2-3 days habitation period and intake of food and drinking water, urinary flow rate and body weight were recorded regularly to make sure that the mice were adapted to the new environment. Subsequently, 24 h of urine was collected for 5 consecutive days to obtain the urinary parameters. Urine was collected under water-saturated oil and metabolic cages were siliconized to ensure smooth urine collection. After collecting base line urine mice were treated with propranolol in drinking water at the dose of 500 mg/L for 7 days and urine was collected. Mice were fed control diet. Urine aliquots were rapidly frozen and store at -80 until measurement.

3.3.8 Urinary phosphate, calcium and creatinine

The phosphate concentration was determined colorimetrically using commercial diagnostic kits (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). The urinary concentration of Ca²⁺ was measured by flame photometry (ELEX 6361, Eppendorf) or by a photometric method according to the manufacturer's instructions (Dri-chem clinical chemistry analyzer FUJI FDC 3500i, Sysmex, Norsted, Germany). The creatinine concentration in urine was determined using the Jaffe reaction (LT-SYS, Labor Technik, Germany).

3.3.9 Measurement of urinary vanillylmandelic acid (VMA) and epinephrine

For the measurement of renal excretion both $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice and $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice were placed individually in the metabolic cages to adapt new environment on the first two days for collecting 24 h urine. Mice were again housed from day 2-day 5 of propranolol treatment. Small amount of 6N HCL were added to the urine collection tube to acidify the urine and next 24 h acidic urine was collected. To ensure smooth urine collection,

metabolic cages were siliconized and urine was collected under water-saturated oil. Urinary epinephrine (Labor Diagnostika Nord, Nordhorn, Germany) and vanillylmandelic acid (IBL international, Hamburg, Germany) concentration were determined by using ELISA kits

3.4 Blood pressure measurement

The arterial blood pressure was determined by a non-invasive tail-cuff system (IITC life Science, Woodlands Hills, CA, USA). To get the systolic blood pressure of mice, I took average of several days readings for the respective mouse. To reduce the stress of mice some precautions were taken. Mice were placed in clean plastic animal holder. Before taking reading mice were given proper training. Tail of the mouse was positioned inside a tail cuff with a photoelectric sensor. We determined systolic blood pressure before and after treatment with β -blocker propranolol. All recordings and data analysis were obtained by using a computerized data acquisition system and software (PowerLab 4/26).

3.5 Measurement of F/G actin ratio by Triton X-100 fractionation

For measurements of the monomeric (Triton soluble) and polymerized (Triton insoluble) actin, UMR 106 cells were incubated for different time points with or without and/or with vitamin D (100 nM), wogonin (100 μ M), Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 (50 μ M) and PAK inhibitor IPA3 (10 μ M) where indicated. Then, cells were harvested. Actin cytoskeleton determination by Triton X-100 was described previously (200). Briefly, cells were incubated with 130 μ I of Triton extraction buffer containing (0.3% TritonX-100, 5 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 2 mM EGTA, 300 mM sucrose, 2 μ M phalloidin, 1 mM PMSF, 10 μ g/ml leupeptin, 20 μ /ml aprotinin, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, and 50 mM NaF for 5-7 min on ice. The supernatant (G-actin) containing soluble protein was removed. The Triton insoluble fraction remaining on the culture plate was scraped and lysed with RIPA buffer (Cell Signaling, Frankfurt, Germany). An equal amount of protein of each fraction was subjected

to 10% SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes which were then blocked with 5% nonfat dry milk powder in TBS-T for 1 h at room temperature. Next, the membrane was incubated overnight at 4°C with pan-actin primary antibody (1:1000 in 5% BSA with TBS-T, Cell Signaling) and washed 3-5 times with TBS-T. Then, incubation with secondary anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antibody was carried out for 1 h at room temperature (1:2000; Cell Signaling). Blots were developed by commercial ECL (Thermo Scientific) or home made ECL reagent and band intensities were quantified by chemidoc Quantity one software.

3.6 Western blotting

To determine protein abundance, mice were anesthetized with diethyl ether. The kidneys were removed and immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The kidneys of mice were homogenized with an electric homogenizer at 4°C on ice in lysis buffer (54.6 mM HEPES, 2.69 mM Na4P2O7, 360 mM NaCl, 10% [vol/vol] Glycerol, 1% [vol/vol] NP40) or RIPA (Cell signalling) containing phosphatase and protease inhibitors (Complete mini, Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Homogenates were kept on ice for 30 minutes and homogenates were centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 30 min at 4^oC. Protein concentration was quantified by Bradford protein assay (Bio-Rad, München, Germany). 40 µg tissue lysate was separated by SDS-PAGE (8% Tris-Glycine), transferred to PVDF membranes (Thermo scientific, Germany), blocked for 1 h in blocking buffer (5% fat-free milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 0.1% Tween), and incubated overnight at 4^oc with rat anti-klotho (1:1000 in 5% fat free milk in TBST; kindly provided by Akiko Saito, Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd., Japan) antibody. After incubation with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rat or anti rabbit secondary antibody (1:2000 in 5% fat free milk in TBST; Cell Signaling, Freiburg, Germany), the bands were visualized with enhanced chemiluminescence according to the manufacturer's instructions or by using home-made ECL solution. For loading control, the membrane was probed with GAPDH antibody (1:2000 in 5% BSA in TBST; Cell Signaling, Frankfurt Germany). Densitometric analysis of klotho was performed using Quantity One software (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

3.6.1 Solutions

<i>Table 1.</i> Running buffer (10X)	
Tris base	250 mM
Glycine	1.9 M
SDS	1%
dH ₂ O	Up to 1 litre

Table 2. Transfer buffer (10X)	
Tris base	198 mM
Glycine	1.5 M
dH ₂ O	Up to 1 litre

Table 3. TBS (10X)

Tris base	200 mM
NaCl	1.3 M
dH ₂ O	Up to 1 litre, pH 7.6

Tris (0.1 M)	2.42 g
Luminol	50 mg
dH ₂ O	200 ml
Adjust pH	8.6

Table 5. Solution B for ECL (10 ml)

Para hydroxyl cumeric acid	11 mg
DMSO	10 ml

Table 6. Working solution for ECL	
Solution A	1 ml
Solution B	100 µl
Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	0.3 µl

3.7 Statistics

Data are provided as means ± SEM, n represents the number of independent experiments. All data were tested for significance using unpaired Students t-test or ANOVA. Only results with p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

4. Results

Part 1 Results

4.1.1 Enhanced serum FGF23 in gsk-3^{KI} mice

It has been shown that $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice suffer from hypophosphatemia and renal phosphate wasting as well as low serum levels of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (168). FGF23 is derived from bone and exerts its phosphate wasting effect in the kidney and thereby reduces serum phosphate. Thus, the serum C-terminal FGF23 and intact FGF23 concentration was measured. Both C-terminal FGF23 and intact FGF23 were significantly higher in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice (Fig. 8).





4.1.2 Renal klotho abundance in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice

FGF23 binds to its receptor to exert renal function. FGFR receptor requires α -klotho as a co-receptor. It has been reported that reduced expression of α -klotho is associated with high serum concentration of FGF23 (201) in klotho *knock out* mice. Therefore, renal abundance of klotho was determined by Western blotting. I did not find any difference in renal α -klotho expression between the genotypes (Fig. 9). Hence, α -klotho does not account for elevated serum FGF23 in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice.



Fig. 9: Renal α -Klotho abundance in *gsk*-3^{*Kl*} mice and *gsk*-3^{*WT*} mice.

A. Original Western blots demonstrating renal Klotho (upper panel) and GAPDH (lower panel) abundance.

B. Densitometric analysis of the Western Blot. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6).

4.1.3 Sympathetic nervous activity in gsk-3^{KI} mice

Recently, it has been reported that sympathetic activation is a trigger of FGF23 release (147). Epinephrine and norepinephrine are the neurotransmitters of sympathetic nervous system (202). Vanillylmandelic acid (VMA) is an end-stage metabolite of the catecholamines, epinephrine and norepinephrine. Therefore, urinary VMA is a biomarker of sympathetic activation. To this end, I determined urinary epinephrine and VMA excretion by ELISA. In keeping with a previous report (172), I found significantly higher urinary epinephrine and VMA excretion in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice compared to *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (Fig. 10), which indicating increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice.





Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 7) of the urinary 24 h-epinephrine (**A**) and 24 h-VMA (**B**) excretion of $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice (white bar) and $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice (black bar). * p<0.05, ** p<0.01.

4.1.4 High blood pressure in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice

In the next series of experiments, systolic blood pressure was measured in $gsk-3^{kl}$ mice and $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice by tail-cuff method. As a consequence of higher sympathetic nerve activation, blood pressure was significantly higher in $gsk-3^{kl}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice. β -blocker propranolol treatment significantly reduced blood pressure of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice to the level of $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11: β -blocker propranolol lowers systolic blood pressure in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of systolic blood pressure (n=12) in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) determined before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). *** (*p*<0.001) indicate significant difference between the genotypes, ### (*p*<0.001) indicates significant difference from the absence of propranolol treatment.

4.1.5 Glomerular filtration rate (GFR)

As blood pressure may influence glomerular filtration rate of kidney (GFR), I measured creatinine clearance to determine GFR. Before propranolol treatment GFR was significantly higher in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice than in $gsk-3^{wt}$ mice. Propranolol reduced GFR between the genotypes, a difference not reaching statistical significance (Fig. 12).



Fig. 12: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on GFR in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of GFR (n=19) in *gsk*-3^{*WT*} mice (white bars) and *gsk*-3^{*KI*} mice (black bars) determined before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β-blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). * (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference between the genotypes.

4.1.6 β -blocker propranolol normalized enhanced production of FGF23 in *gsk-3^{kl}* mice

Next, I investigated whether sympathetic activation is responsible for increased FGF23 production and leads to phosphaturia in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice. To verify this, $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice and $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice were treated with β -blocker propranolol for one week at dose of 500 mg/L in drinking water. The serum C-terminal FGF23 concentration was significantly higher in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice before propranolol treatment (Fig. 13). Elevated serum C-terminal FGF23 in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice was reduced significantly by β -blocker propranolol treatment (500 mg/L) and abrogated the difference in serum FGF23 between the genotypes (Fig. 13). Serum intact FGF23 was also significantly higher in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice than in $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice. Propranolol treatment also reduced intact FGF23 in lesser extent and mimics the difference between the genotypes (Fig. 14).



Fig. 13: β -blocker propranolol reduces the serum C-term FGF23 level in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of the serum C-terminal FGF23 (n=20) concentration in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). *** (*p*<0.001) indicate significant difference between the genotypes, ## (*p*<0.01) indicates significant difference from the absence of propranolol treatment.



Fig. 14: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on the serum intact FGF23 level in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of the serum intact FGF23 (n=12) concentration in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). * (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference between the genotypes.

4.1.7 The effect of propranolol on Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106 cells

These data suggests that sympathetic nervous activation is responsible for elevated FGF23 levels in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice. In a recent study, Kawai M *et al*, have shown that β -receptor agonist isoproterenol up-regulates Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106 cells (147). Thus, to define the molecular mechanism, UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells were treated with β -blocker propranolol overnight (14 h) to determine whether propranolol affects Fgf23 gene transcription by qRT-PCR. Overnight incubation with 150 μ M propranolol significantly down regulated Fgf23 mRNA transcription compared to control cells (Fig. 15). Thus, propranolol inhibits FGF23 formation both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.



Fig. 15: β-blocker propranolol down-regulates Fgf23 transcription in UMR 106 cells.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of Fgf23 mRNA expression in UMR 106 cells treated with or without 150 μ M propranolol for 16 h in the presence of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (n=15) Ctr. (white bars) and Propranolol (black bars). * (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference from the absence of propranolol treatment.

4.1.8 Reduced 1,25(OH)₂D₃ in gsk-3^{KI} mice

FGF23 down-regulates renal 1 α hydroxylase (Cyp27b1), key enzyme responsible for active vitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D₃) synthesis and up-regulates 25-hydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase (Cyp24a1) thus reducing the formation and enhancing the inactivation of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ (1,25(OH)₂D₃). Therefore, the serum 1,25(OH)₂D₃ concentration was measured by ELISA. As expected, elevated serum levels of FGF23 was paralleled by low serum levels of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice before propranolol treatment. However, propranolol treatment did not change the serum 1,25(OH)₂D₃ concentration (Fig. 16).



Fig. 16: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on the serum calcitriol level in *gsk*-3^{*k*} mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (n=11-12) concentration in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). * (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference between the genotypes.

4.1.9 Hypophosphatemia and phosphaturia in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice

High serum FGF23 inhibits tubular phosphate and increases renal phosphate wasting (phosphaturia). Therefore, I measured serum phosphate and renal phosphate excretion before and after treatment with propranolol. Consistent with previous reports (168), we found serum phosphate was significantly lower in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice compared to *gsk-3^{WT}* mice before treatment with propranolol (Fig. 17A). In spite of low serum phosphate (Hypophosphatemia), *gsk-3^{KI}* mice had significantly higher renal phosphate excretion than *gsk-3^{WT}* mice before propranolol treatment (Fig. 17B). I treated *gsk-3^{KI}* mice and *gsk-3^{WT}* mice with propranolol for one week in drinking water (500 mg/L). Propranolol treatment significantly alleviated hypophosphatemia of *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (Fig. 17A) and at the same time reduced renal phosphate excretion (Fig. 17B). Interestingly, treatment with β-blocker propranolol significantly increased the serum phosphate level and decreased renal phosphate excretion in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (Fig 17).





Arithmetic means ± SEM of the serum phosphate concentration (**A**; n=19) and renal phosphate excretion (**B**; n=19) in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). *,** (*p*<0.05, *p*<0.01) indicate significant difference between the genotypes, #,### (*p*<0.05, *p*<0.001) indicate significant difference from the absence of propranolol treatment.

4.2.1 Hypoparathyroidism in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice

PTH inhibits renal tubular phosphate reabsorption in the kidney. Therefore, phosphaturia could be caused by suppressing renal phosphate reabsorption by PTH. PTH also regulates calcium and vitamin D. Therefore, I measured plasma PTH levels in $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice and $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice by ELISA before and after treatment with propranolol (500 mg/L). In the line with a previous report (168), I found low plasma PTH levels in $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice. However, propranolol treatment did not affect plasma PTH concentration (Fig. 18).



Fig. 18: Effects of β -blocker propranolol on the plasma PTH level in *gsk*-3^{*k*} mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM of PTH (n=11-12) concentration in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). * (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference between the genotypes

4.2.2 Calciuria in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice

Gsk-3^{Kl} mice have been reported to suffer from calciuria (168). In the next series of experiments, I explored whether propranolol influences serum calcium and renal calcium wasting in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice and *gsk-3^{WT}* mice. Prior to propranolol treatment I did not find any difference between *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice and *gsk-3^{WT}* mice in serum calcium concentration (Fig. 19A). However, renal calcium excretion was higher in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice (Fig. 19B). Propranolol treatment had no effects on serum calcium concentration in both genotypes. But propranolol significantly reduced renal calcium excretion (calciuria) in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice (Fig. 19B). At the same time, renal calcium excretion moderately enhanced in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice by the treatment with propranolol.



Fig. 19: β -blocker propranolol decreases the renal calcium excretion of *gsk*-3^{*k*} mice.

Arithmetic means ± SEM of the serum calcium concentration (**A**; n=16-17) and renal calcium excretion (**B**; n=19) in *gsk-3^{WT}* mice (white bars) and *gsk-3^{KI}* mice (black bars) measured before (left bars) and after one week of treatment with β -blocker propranolol (500 mg/L) (right bars). *(*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference between the genotypes, # (*p*<0.05) indicates significant difference from the absence of propranolol treatment.

Part 2 Results

4.3 The effect of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ on actin cytoskeleton reorganization in UMR 106 cells

This study addressed the role of the organization of the actin cytoskeleton in Fgf23 transcription in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells. $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is a well known stimulator of FGF23 formation. In the first series of experiments, UMR 106 cells were incubated with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM) and analyzed the changes in the actin cytoskeleton by Western blotting and confocal imaging. Fig. 20A and 20B illustrate that treatment with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ resulted in a polymerization of the actin cytoskeleton in UMR 106 cells as indicated by a decrease of the G-actin over F-actin ratio. This effect was evident upon 15 min treatment (Fig. 20A) and persisted for at least 24 h (Fig. 20B), indicating an early but persistent effect of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ on actin reorganization.



Fig. 20: 1,25(OH)₂D₃ induces polymerization of the actin cytoskeleton in UMR 106 cells.

A: Original Western blot demonstrating G-actin and F-actin abundance in UMR 106 cells left untreated (Ctr.) or treated for 15 or 30 min with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM). Lower panel: Arithmetic means ± SEM (n=6) of the ratio of filamentous (F) over soluble (G) actin in UMR 106 cells.

B: Original Western blot demonstrating G-actin and F-actin abundance in UMR 106 cells left untreated (Ctr.) or treated for 24 h with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM). Lower panel: Arithmetic means ± SEM (n=15) of the ratio of filamentous (F) over soluble (G) actin in UMR 106 cells. *p < 0.05.

Confocal microscopy imaging also fully supported these findings and demonstrated a profound effect of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ on actin cytoskeleton reorganization with the formation of stress fibers (Fig. 21).



Fig. 21: Confocal microscopy image illustrating $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced actin stress fiber formation in UMR 106 cells.

Confocal microscopy images demonstrating actin staining (upper images), nucleus staining (middle images) or the merged staining (lower images) in UMR 106 cells left untreated or treated with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM) for 15 min, 30 min, or 24 h (n=3).

4.4 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced actin polymerization is abolished by NF- κ B inhibitor wogonin

Recently, it has been demontrated that proinflamatory cytokines are involved in the release and expression of Fgf23 which is transcription factor NF- κ B dependent (203). On the other hand, NF- κ B signaling has been shown to be involved in TNF α (204) and steroid hormones (205)-induced actin reorganization in various cell models. Therefore, in order to test whether inhibition of FGF23 expression by NF- κ B inhibition also affects actin cytoskeleton I analyzed Western blot. As illustrated in (Fig. 22) NF- κ B inhibitor wogonin (100 μ M) totally blocked 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced polymerization of actin cytoskeleton.



Fig. 22: 1 NF- κ B inhibitor wogonin blocked 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced actin polymerization in UMR 106 cells

Original Western blot showing G-actin and F-actin abundance in UMR 106 cells left untreated (Ctr.) or treated for 15 min with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM) in the presence or absence of NF- κ B inhibitor wogonin (100 μ M). Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n=6) of the ratio of filamentous (F) over soluble (G) actin in UMR 106 cells (lower panel). ** *p*<0.01, ## indicates significant difference from $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ alone (*p*<0.01).

4.5 The effect of cytochalasin B on Fgf23 mRNA expression

Cytochalasin B is a mycotoxin which block actin polymerization. Therefore, the effect of cytochalasin B on the mRNA expression of Fgf23 was analyzed by qRT-PCR. As shown in (Fig. 23), $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced up-regulation of Fgf23 gene transcription largely inhibited when cells were incubated with cytochalasin B (100 nM) for 6 h that block actin reorganization.



Fig. 23: $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 transcription is inhibited by actin-disrupting agent cytochalasin B.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6) of Fgf23 mRNA expression in UMR 106 cells following a 6 h treatment with vehicle alone or with 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (100 nM) without or with cytochalasin B (100 nM). ** *p*<0.01, # indicates significant difference from 1,25(OH)₂D₃ alone (*p*<0.05).

4.6 Rac1 and PAK1 inhibitor blocked 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced Fgf23 mRNA expression

This result reveals the role of actin cytoskeleton in FGF23 transcription regulation. Rac1 regulates actin cytoskeleton restructuring (206). To elucidate underlying mechanism I treated UMR 106 cells with a Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 (50 μ M) that blocks actin polymerization and Fgf23 transcript levels were determined. As illustrated in Fig. 24A, 1,25(OH)₂D₃ stimulated up-regulation of Fgf23 gene transcription significantly decreased by Rac1 inhibitor. Rac1 has been known to activate downstream PAK1, which in turn regulate actin cytoskeleton reorganization. As shown in Fig. 24B, PAK inhibitor IPA3 (10 μ M) treatment was followed by a significant decrease of Fgf23 transcription to control levels, further implies that Rac1 controlled actin reorganization is directly involved in 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced modulation of Fgf23 gene transcription.



Fig. 24: 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced Fgf23 transcription is inhibited by Rac1 and PAK1 inhibitors.

A: Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n=7) of Fgf23 mRNA abundance in UMR 106 cells following a 6 h treatment with vehicle alone or with 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (100 nM) without or with Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 (50 µM). **B:** Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n=6) of Fgf23 mRNA abundance in UMR 106 cells following a 6 h treatment with vehicle alone or with 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (100 nM) without or with PAK1 inhibitor IPA3 (10 µM). *, *** p<0.05, p<0.001 #, ### indicate significant difference from 1,25(OH)₂D₃ alone (p<0.05, p<0.001). Rac1 inhibitor blocked $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced actin polymerization (Fig. 25), suggesting that actin restructuring *via* polymerization upon $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ treatment could control Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106 cells. On the other hand, the effect of IPA3 was moderate and did not reach to the statistical significance (Fig. 25).



Fig. 25: 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced actin polymerization is blocked by Rac1and PAK1 inhibitors

Original Western blot illustrating G-actin and F-actin abundance in UMR 106 cells left untreated (Ctr.) or treated for 15 min with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM) without or with PAK1 inhibitor IPA3 (10 µM) or with Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 (50 µM). Lower panel: Arithmetic means ± SEM (n=5) of the ratio of filamentous (F) over soluble (G) actin in UMR 106 cells. * p<0.05 # indicates significant difference from $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ alone (p<0.05).

5. Discussion

The present observations reveal that protein kinase B (PKB/Akt)-sensitive GSK3 is critical for the formation of FGF23 by regulating the activity of the sympathetic nervous system and further demonstrated that the role of actin cytoskeleton on the formation of FGF23 in the UMR 106 osteoblastic cells.

In this study, I analyzed $qsk-3^{kl}$ mice and compared with corresponding wild type mice. GSK3 is a downstream signaling molecule of PI3K signaling pathway. It is serinethreonine kinase which is phosphorylated and thus, inactivated by insulin through PKB/Akt/SGK signaling. *Gsk-3^{Kl}* mice carrying a GSK3α/β mutation that makes the kinase insensitive to the inhibitory effect of PKB/Akt (gsk-3^{Kl} mice), as a result, it is not phosphorylated by either PKB/Akt or SGK1. Though inactivation of GSK3 is mediated by the action of insulin through PI3K/PKB/Akt-dependent mechanism, *ask-3^{KI}* mice are viable and do not suffer from insulin resistance and insulin action on muscle glycogen synthase is abolished in $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice (167). However, $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice have previously been reported to suffer from phosphaturia, calciuria and lower bone density (168). These effects were in part due to a direct inhibitory effect of GSK3 on the main phosphate transporter of the kidney, NaPilla and reduced activity of phosphate transporter in $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice (168). These results further provide evidence that the renal phosphate wasting of $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice may be in addition because of the elevated serum FGF23 level in these mice, as FGF23 is a phosphatonin and it inhibits renal phosphate reabsorption by reducing phosphate transporter (NaPi2a) and causes phosphaturia.

FGF23 ELISA was employed to measure either C-terminal FGF23 or only intact FGF23. Intact FGF23 is the biologically active form of FGF23. The C-terminal FGF23 is a inactive form and results from furin-dependent degradation of intact FGF23 (207). In this study, both the C-terminal and intact FGF23 concentrations were measured by using ELISA kits. I found that both C-terminal and intact FGF23 is elevated in *gsk-3^{KI}* mice as compared to *gsk-3^{WT}* mice.

FGF23 binds to its receptor (FGFR) to exert its renal function. It requires α -klotho as a co-receptor. Klotho deficiency is associated with elevated serum FGF23 level (201). It suggests that klotho can act as a regulator of FGF23. Therefore, I determined renal klotho expression. However, I did not find any difference between the genotype. Thus, pointing that klotho is not relevant for enhanced serum FGF23 in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice.

The neurotransmitter epinephrine and norepinephrine are biomarkers for sympathetic nerve activity. Gsk-3^{Kl} mice exhibit higher sympathetic nerve activation than in $qsk-3^{WT}$ mice. Consequently, the $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice suffer from high blood pressure and they have higher heart rate as well than $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice (172). In this study, I could confirm enhanced sympathetic activation of $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ by detecting urinary epinephrine and VMA as a measure of sympathetic nervous activation. I found significantly higher 24 h urinary excretion of epinephrine and VMA in $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice than in $gsk-3^{KI}$ mice. VMA is the main metabolite of epinephrine and norepinephrine. Since, it has recently been shown that sympathetic activation to induce FGF23 release; I aimed to define the role of the higher sympathetic activity for enhanced production of FGF23 in $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice. Therefore, I treated $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice and $qsk-3^{WT}$ mice with the widely used β blocker propranolol in drinking water for one week (500 mg/L) and analyzed the consequence for serum FGF23 and phosphate metabolism. One week treatment with propranolol markedly reduced serum FGF23 level of $qsk-3^{KI}$ mice to the level of $qsk-3^{WT}$ mice. Therefore, enhanced sympathetic activation accounted for the excess FGF23 formation of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice. Treatment with β -blocker propranolol reduced blood pressure in $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice and abrogated the difference between the genotypes, suggesting that hypertension of $qsk-3^{Kl}$ mice was because of enhanced sympathetic nervous activity, since propranolol treatment significantly reduced blood pressure. Similarly, β-blocker propranolol treatment inhibits fgf23 mRNA expression in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells.

As a consequence of reduced serum FGF23 level by propranolol treatment, both the hypophosphatemia and phosphaturia of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice were ameliorated by β -blocker treatment. The data presented here provide strong evidence that the renal phosphate wasting of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice was, at least in part, the direct effect of elevated serum FGF23 concentration. FGF23 and PTH are the main regulators of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$. Treatment with propranolol did not affect the low serum $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ level in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice despite its

56
Discussion

profound effect on FGF23. However, the other main regulator of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is PTH which stimulates $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ formation, was also low in *gsk-3^{Kl}* mice compared to *gsk-3^{WT}* mice and not significantly affected by propranolol, an effect likely to contribute to their low serum $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ concentration. Apart from this, GSK3 signaling may influence directly on vitamin D metabolism or VDR signalling. Recently, it has been published that mice treated with GSK3 inhibitor lithium chloride increased serum FGF23 concentration and decreased serum $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ concentration (208). To rule out the direct effects of GSK3 on vitamin D metabolism further research is needed.

In keeping with previous reports, I found that glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was significantly higher in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice compared to $gsk-3^{WT}$ mice (171). β -blocker propranolol reduced blood pressure of $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice. Blood pressure lowering effect of propranolol may affect glomerular filtration rate (GFR). Therefore, I measured GFR after treatment with propranolol. The effect of β -blocker to lower blood pressure was associated with decline GFR in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice too. This results indicating that mild reduction of phosphaturia and calciuria in $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice following propranolol treatment was, at least in part, also because of decline of GFR.

β-blockers such as propranolol are a widely prescribed class of drugs all over the world. It is used for the treatment of hypertension, heart failure and atrial fibrillation (209-211). It is tempting to speculate that the FGF23-lowering effect of β-blockers observed in *gsk-* 3^{KI} mice may have an implication for millions of patients treated with β-blockers. These drugs clearly reduce the cardiovascular mortality of high-risk patients. Interestingly, a high FGF23 level also positively correlates with cardiovascular mortality (103, 104, 107). Therefore, it appears possible that the benefit of β-blocker therapy is at least in part also related to its ability to lower the blood FGF23 concentration. Clearly, further studies are needed to test this hypothesis.

57



Fig. 26: GSK3-controlled sympathetic activity in FGF23 production: Insulin phosphorylates and inhibits GSK3. In gsk-3^{KI} mice serine residue was replaced by alanine. Thus, GSK3 $\alpha/\beta^{21A/21A/9A/9A}$ renders the kinase insensitive to the inhibitory effects of insulin. *Gsk-3^{KI}* mice have higher sympathetic nervous activity and elevated FGF23 levels which leads to phosphaturia. β -blocker propranolol normalized elevated FGF23 and reduced phosphaturia.

In second part of the study I investigated the role of reorganization of actin cytoskeleton in the regulation of FGF23 formation in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells. The present observations reveal an impact of reorganization of actin cytoskeleton is required for the production of FGF23 as actin microfilament disrupting agent cytochalasin B blocked transcription of the Fgf23 gene. Here, this study demonstrated that stimulation of FGF23 formation with $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ resulted in actin polymerization. Furthermore, the effect of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ on the reorganization of actin was blocked by NF- κ B inhibitor wogonin (100 µM) that suppressed Fqf23 mRNA expression. During early and / or late actin reorganization, actin polymerization is induced by various signals including hormones (212), growth factors and cytokines (213, 214) and ions (215). $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is a known trigger for Fqf23 expression. FGF23 is also stimulated by NF-κB signalling (203, 216). It has been shown previously that both $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ and NF- κB (217) plays a vital role in actin reorganization. $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ is implicated in osteoblast maturation, matrix calcification and overall bone metabolism (218). These results provide novel mechanistic evidence for 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced regulation of Fgf23 gene transcription by revealing the involvement of the actin specific Rac1 and PAK1 signaling. As NF-kB has an implication on actin polymerization, in a series of experiments, I used NF-kB inhibitor wogonin and observed, 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced actin polymerization was totally blocked. On the other hand, 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced up-regulation of Fgf23 was also abolished by actin depolymerising agent cytochalasin B. Hence, 1,25(OH)₂D₃-stimulated Fgf23 expression is at least in part regulated by actin cytoskeleton reorganization. Rac1/PAK1 is a key regulatory molecule in the actin signalling pathway in various cell models (212, 219, 220). In this study, I used Rac1 and PAK1 specific inhibitor NCS 23766 (50 µM) and IPA3 (10 µM) respectively, to block actin cytoskeleton and questioned whether it affects gene transcription of Fgf23. Indeed, blocking of Rac1 and PAK1 activities lead to the suppression of Fqf23 mRNA transcription in UMR 106 cells. This study demonstrated that 1.25(OH)₂D₃-induced actin cytoskeleton reorganization regulates Fgf23 gene expression by Rac1/PAK1 signaling.

Early or late actin cytoskeleton reorganization, following modification of actin polymerization is initiated by various signals and regulated by distinct signalling pathway which has been implicated in the control of gene transcription (221, 222). It has been shown that early actin polymerization by various signals may release transcription factor such as myocardin-related transcription factor (MRTF) (221, 223, 224), which may in turn regulate transcription of various genes (221). Likewise, early actin restructuring, following modification of actin polymerization regulates activation of RhoB-gene (225) as well as alpha smooth muscle actin (alpha SMA) gene (226) and guanine nucleotide exchanger factors (GEF's) including Net1/Net1A (227). These studies suggested that early actin restructuring may regulate transcription of genes encoding specific regulatory effectors

(221, 223) and may link early modification of actin cytoskeleton to late cell responses controlled by gene activation (221). These results further support this hypothesis. Indeed, actin polymerization induced by $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells seems to regulate $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 gene expression, as inhibition of actin polymerization either by actin microfilament disrupting agent cytochalasin B or by inhibition of specific actin signalling molecules (Rac1/PAK1) that govern actin cytoskeleton dynamics, blunted $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced up-regulation of Fgf23 mRNA expression.

Rac1 is a member of small GTPase Rho family. This is a major signalling molecule of actin cytoskeleton signalling pathway which act to the downstream of PI3K/FAK1 signaling pathway (228). Rac1 may itself stimulate actin polymerization, or it may associate with PAK1 that in turn is implicated in actin restructuring (200, 229). These results provide strong evidence that Rac1/and PAK1 are mainly involved in both, actin reorganization and Fgf23 gene transcription, which support previous studies describing an important role of Rac1 in osteoblastic cells (230). In fact, this study cannot exclude the involvement of other small Rho-GTPase signaling, may be these signaling involve as well. These findings strongly indicate that the Rac1/PAK1-stimulated actin redistribution is required for the 1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced production of Fgf23 in UMR 106 osteoblast-like cells. Apart from this, as suppression of Fgf23 production by inhibiting NF-κB signaling with wogonin resulted in a blockade of actin network reorganization, these findings further support previous studies establishing the involvement of NF-κB signaling in actin cytoskeleton rearrangements (204, 205, 231).

Rac1/PAK1 signaling may turn out to be a potent regulator of renal phosphate and vitamin D metabolism by controlling FGF23 formation through reorganization of actin cytoskeleton. Further studies are needed to define its exact role.



Fig. 27: Fgf23 gene regulation by actin cytoskeleton reorganization: $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ stimulates Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106 cells. $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Fgf23 expression is inhibited by Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 and cytochalasin B. Rac1 inhibitor NSC 23766 and PAK inhibitor IPA3 also blocked $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -induced actin polymerization. Black arrows indicate stimulation and red arrows indicate inhibition.

6. Conclusion

The present observations reveal that PKB/Akt-resistant GSK3 signaling controls sympathetic nervous activity which is an important regulator of FGF23 production and phosphate metabolism. Hence, $gsk-3^{Kl}$ mice exhibit a high serum FGF23 level, phosphaturia, and hypophosphatemia, normalized by β -blocker propranolol.

1,25(OH)₂D₃-induced Fgf23 gene transcription in UMR 106 cells requires reorganization of the actin network, govern by NF- κ B and Rac1/PAK1 signaling. These observations reveal that actin cytoskeleton reorganization may be implicated in the control of gene transcription.

References

- 1. Itoh, N., and Ornitz, D. M. (2004) Evolution of the Fgf and Fgfr gene families. *Trends in genetics : TIG* **20**, 563-569
- 2. Thisse, B., and Thisse, C. (2005) Functions and regulations of fibroblast growth factor signaling during embryonic development. *Developmental biology* **287**, 390-402
- 3. Shimada, T., Kakitani, M., Yamazaki, Y., Hasegawa, H., Takeuchi, Y., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., Tomizuka, K., and Yamashita, T. (2004) Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* **113**, 561-568
- 4. Sitara, D., Razzaque, M. S., Hesse, M., Yoganathan, S., Taguchi, T., Erben, R. G., Juppner, H., and Lanske, B. (2004) Homozygous ablation of fibroblast growth factor-23 results in hyperphosphatemia and impaired skeletogenesis, and reverses hypophosphatemia in Phex-deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* **23**, 421-432
- 5. Bergwitz, C., and Juppner, H. (2010) Regulation of phosphate homeostasis by PTH, vitamin D, and FGF23. *Annu Rev Med* **61**, 91-104
- 6. Consortium, A. (2000) Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. *Nature genetics* **26**, 345-348
- 7. Yamashita, T., Yoshioka, M., and Itoh, N. (2000) Identification of a novel fibroblast growth factor, FGF-23, preferentially expressed in the ventrolateral thalamic nucleus of the brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **277**, 494-498
- 8. Liu, S., Zhou, J., Tang, W., Jiang, X., Rowe, D. W., and Quarles, L. D. (2006) Pathogenic role of Fgf23 in Hyp mice. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **291**, E38-49
- Goetz, R., Beenken, A., Ibrahimi, O. A., Kalinina, J., Olsen, S. K., Eliseenkova, A. V., Xu, C., Neubert, T. A., Zhang, F., Linhardt, R. J., Yu, X., White, K. E., Inagaki, T., Kliewer, S. A., Yamamoto, M., Kurosu, H., Ogawa, Y., Kuro-o, M., Lanske, B., Razzaque, M. S., and Mohammadi, M. (2007) Molecular insights into the klothodependent, endocrine mode of action of fibroblast growth factor 19 subfamily members. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 3417-3428
- Liu, S., Guo, R., Simpson, L. G., Xiao, Z. S., Burnham, C. E., and Quarles, L. D. (2003) Regulation of fibroblastic growth factor 23 expression but not degradation by PHEX. *J Biol Chem* 278, 37419-37426
- Goetz, R., Nakada, Y., Hu, M. C., Kurosu, H., Wang, L., Nakatani, T., Shi, M., Eliseenkova, A. V., Razzaque, M. S., Moe, O. W., Kuro-o, M., and Mohammadi, M. (2010) Isolated C-terminal tail of FGF23 alleviates hypophosphatemia by inhibiting FGF23-FGFR-Klotho complex formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 407-412
- 12. White, K. E., Carn, G., Lorenz-Depiereux, B., Benet-Pages, A., Strom, T. M., and Econs, M. J. (2001) Autosomal-dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) mutations stabilize FGF-23. *Kidney Int* **60**, 2079-2086
- 13. Kovesdy, C. P., Anderson, J. E., and Kalantar-Zadeh, K. (2010) Outcomes associated with serum phosphorus level in males with non-dialysis dependent chronic kidney disease. *Clin Nephrol* **73**, 268-275

- 14. Schwarz, S., Trivedi, B. K., Kalantar-Zadeh, K., and Kovesdy, C. P. (2006) Association of disorders in mineral metabolism with progression of chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* **1**, 825-831
- 15. Kovesdy, C. P., Kuchmak, O., Lu, J. L., and Kalantar-Zadeh, K. (2010) Outcomes associated with serum calcium level in men with non-dialysis-dependent chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* **5**, 468-476
- 16. Kovesdy, C. P., Ahmadzadeh, S., Anderson, J. E., and Kalantar-Zadeh, K. (2008) Secondary hyperparathyroidism is associated with higher mortality in men with moderate to severe chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* **73**, 1296-1302
- 17. Kovesdy, C. P., Ureche, V., Lu, J. L., and Kalantar-Zadeh, K. (2010) Outcome predictability of serum alkaline phosphatase in men with pre-dialysis CKD. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **25**, 3003-3011
- 18. Holm, I. A., Huang, X., and Kunkel, L. M. (1997) Mutational analysis of the PEX gene in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. *Am J Hum Genet* **60**, 790-797
- 19. Econs, M. J., McEnery, P. T., Lennon, F., and Speer, M. C. (1997) Autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets is linked to chromosome 12p13. *J Clin Invest* **100**, 2653-2657
- White, K. E., Jonsson, K. B., Carn, G., Hampson, G., Spector, T. D., Mannstadt, M., Lorenz-Depiereux, B., Miyauchi, A., Yang, I. M., Ljunggren, O., Meitinger, T., Strom, T. M., Juppner, H., and Econs, M. J. (2001) The autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) gene is a secreted polypeptide overexpressed by tumors that cause phosphate wasting. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 497-500
- 21. Saito, T., and Fukumoto, S. (2009) Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and Disorders of Phosphate Metabolism. *Int J Pediatr Endocrinol* **2009**, 496514
- 22. Ryan, E. A., and Reiss, E. (1984) Oncogenous osteomalacia. Review of the world literature of 42 cases and report of two new cases. *Am J Med* **77**, 501-512
- 23. Shimada, T., Muto, T., Urakawa, I., Yoneya, T., Yamazaki, Y., Okawa, K., Takeuchi, Y., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2002) Mutant FGF-23 responsible for autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets is resistant to proteolytic cleavage and causes hypophosphatemia in vivo. *Endocrinology* **143**, 3179-3182
- 24. Mc, C. R. (1947) Osteomalacia with Looser's nodes (Milkman's syndrome) due to a raised resistance to vitamin D acquired about the age of 15 years. *Q J Med* **16**, 33-46
- 25. Asnes, R. S., Berdon, W. E., and Bassett, C. A. (1981) Hypophosphatemic rickets in an adolescent cured by excision of a nonossifying fibroma. *Clin Pediatr* (*Phila*) **20**, 646-648
- 26. Miyauchi, A., Fukase, M., Tsutsumi, M., and Fujita, T. (1988) Hemangiopericytoma-induced osteomalacia: tumor transplantation in nude mice causes hypophosphatemia and tumor extracts inhibit renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D 1-hydroxylase activity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **67**, 46-53
- Jonsson, K. B., Zahradnik, R., Larsson, T., White, K. E., Sugimoto, T., Imanishi, Y., Yamamoto, T., Hampson, G., Koshiyama, H., Ljunggren, O., Oba, K., Yang, I. M., Miyauchi, A., Econs, M. J., Lavigne, J., and Juppner, H. (2003) Fibroblast

growth factor 23 in oncogenic osteomalacia and X-linked hypophosphatemia. *N Engl J Med* **348**, 1656-1663

- 28. Shimada, T., Mizutani, S., Muto, T., Yoneya, T., Hino, R., Takeda, S., Takeuchi, Y., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2001) Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 6500-6505
- 29. Yoshiko, Y., Wang, H., Minamizaki, T., Ijuin, C., Yamamoto, R., Suemune, S., Kozai, K., Tanne, K., Aubin, J. E., and Maeda, N. (2007) Mineralized tissue cells are a principal source of FGF23. *Bone* **40**, 1565-1573
- 30. Mirams, M., Robinson, B. G., Mason, R. S., and Nelson, A. E. (2004) Bone as a source of FGF23: regulation by phosphate? *Bone* **35**, 1192-1199
- 31. Kurosu, H., Ogawa, Y., Miyoshi, M., Yamamoto, M., Nandi, A., Rosenblatt, K. P., Baum, M. G., Schiavi, S., Hu, M. C., Moe, O. W., and Kuro-o, M. (2006) Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 6120-6123
- 32. Urakawa, I., Yamazaki, Y., Shimada, T., Iijima, K., Hasegawa, H., Okawa, K., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2006) Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* **444**, 770-774
- 33. Tomiyama, K., Maeda, R., Urakawa, I., Yamazaki, Y., Tanaka, T., Ito, S., Nabeshima, Y., Tomita, T., Odori, S., Hosoda, K., Nakao, K., Imura, A., and Nabeshima, Y. (2010) Relevant use of Klotho in FGF19 subfamily signaling system in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 1666-1671
- 34. Hesse, M., Frohlich, L. F., Zeitz, U., Lanske, B., and Erben, R. G. (2007) Ablation of vitamin D signaling rescues bone, mineral, and glucose homeostasis in Fgf-23 deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* **26**, 75-84
- Larsson, T., Marsell, R., Schipani, E., Ohlsson, C., Ljunggren, O., Tenenhouse, H. S., Juppner, H., and Jonsson, K. B. (2004) Transgenic mice expressing fibroblast growth factor 23 under the control of the alpha1(I) collagen promoter exhibit growth retardation, osteomalacia, and disturbed phosphate homeostasis. *Endocrinology* 145, 3087-3094
- 36. Shimada, T., Urakawa, I., Yamazaki, Y., Hasegawa, H., Hino, R., Yoneya, T., Takeuchi, Y., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2004) FGF-23 transgenic mice demonstrate hypophosphatemic rickets with reduced expression of sodium phosphate cotransporter type IIa. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **314**, 409-414
- 37. Bai, X. Y., Miao, D., Goltzman, D., and Karaplis, A. C. (2003) The autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets R176Q mutation in fibroblast growth factor 23 resists proteolytic cleavage and enhances in vivo biological potency. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 9843-9849
- 38. Bai, X., Miao, D., Li, J., Goltzman, D., and Karaplis, A. C. (2004) Transgenic mice overexpressing human fibroblast growth factor 23 (R176Q) delineate a putative role for parathyroid hormone in renal phosphate wasting disorders. *Endocrinology* **145**, 5269-5279

- 39. Saito, H., Kusano, K., Kinosaki, M., Ito, H., Hirata, M., Segawa, H., Miyamoto, K., and Fukushima, N. (2003) Human fibroblast growth factor-23 mutants suppress Na+-dependent phosphate co-transport activity and 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 production. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 2206-2211
- 40. Martin, A., David, V., and Quarles, L. D. (2012) Regulation and function of the FGF23/klotho endocrine pathways. *Physiol Rev* **92**, 131-155
- 41. Yan, X., Yokote, H., Jing, X., Yao, L., Sawada, T., Zhang, Y., Liang, S., and Sakaguchi, K. (2005) Fibroblast growth factor 23 reduces expression of type IIa Na+/Pi co-transporter by signaling through a receptor functionally distinct from the known FGFRs in opossum kidney cells. *Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms* **10**, 489-502
- 42. Ornitz, D. M., Xu, J., Colvin, J. S., McEwen, D. G., MacArthur, C. A., Coulier, F., Gao, G., and Goldfarb, M. (1996) Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. *J Biol Chem* **271**, 15292-15297
- 43. Kuro-o, M., Matsumura, Y., Aizawa, H., Kawaguchi, H., Suga, T., Utsugi, T., Ohyama, Y., Kurabayashi, M., Kaname, T., Kume, E., Iwasaki, H., Iida, A., Shiraki-Iida, T., Nishikawa, S., Nagai, R., and Nabeshima, Y. I. (1997) Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* **390**, 45-51
- 44. Gattineni, J., Bates, C., Twombley, K., Dwarakanath, V., Robinson, M. L., Goetz, R., Mohammadi, M., and Baum, M. (2009) FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **297**, F282-291
- 45. Kurosu, H., and Kuro, O. M. (2009) Endocrine fibroblast growth factors as regulators of metabolic homeostasis. *BioFactors* **35**, 52-60
- 46. Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2002) Fibroblast growth factor-23 is the phosphaturic factor in tumor-induced osteomalacia and may be phosphatonin. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* **11**, 385-389
- 47. Liu, S., Tang, W., Zhou, J., Stubbs, J. R., Luo, Q., Pi, M., and Quarles, L. D. (2006) Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a counter-regulatory phosphaturic hormone for vitamin D. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **17**, 1305-1315
- 48. Shimada, T., Yamazaki, Y., Takahashi, M., Hasegawa, H., Urakawa, I., Oshima, T., Ono, K., Kakitani, M., Tomizuka, K., Fujita, T., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2005) Vitamin D receptor-independent FGF23 actions in regulating phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **289**, F1088-1095
- 49. Liu, S., and Quarles, L. D. (2007) How fibroblast growth factor 23 works. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **18**, 1637-1647
- 50. Shimada, T., Hasegawa, H., Yamazaki, Y., Muto, T., Hino, R., Takeuchi, Y., Fujita, T., Nakahara, K., Fukumoto, S., and Yamashita, T. (2004) FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* **19**, 429-435
- 51. Inoue, Y., Segawa, H., Kaneko, I., Yamanaka, S., Kusano, K., Kawakami, E., Furutani, J., Ito, M., Kuwahata, M., Saito, H., Fukushima, N., Kato, S., Kanayama, H. O., and Miyamoto, K. (2005) Role of the vitamin D receptor in FGF23 action on phosphate metabolism. *Biochem J* **390**, 325-331

- 52. Perwad, F., Zhang, M. Y., Tenenhouse, H. S., and Portale, A. A. (2007) Fibroblast growth factor 23 impairs phosphorus and vitamin D metabolism in vivo and suppresses 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1alpha-hydroxylase expression in vitro. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **293**, F1577-1583
- 53. Fujiwara, I., Aravindan, R., Horst, R. L., and Drezner, M. K. (2003) Abnormal regulation of renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1alpha-hydroxylase activity in X-linked hypophosphatemia: a translational or post-translational defect. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* **18**, 434-442
- 54. Yuan, B., Xing, Y., Horst, R. L., and Drezner, M. K. (2004) Evidence for abnormal translational regulation of renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1alpha-hydroxylase activity in the hyp-mouse. *Endocrinology* **145**, 3804-3812
- 55. Meyer, M. H., Dulde, E., and Meyer, R. A., Jr. (2004) The genomic response of the mouse kidney to low-phosphate diet is altered in X-linked hypophosphatemia. *Physiol Genomics* **18**, 4-11
- 56. Sapir-Koren, R., and Livshits, G. (2014) Bone mineralization is regulated by signaling cross talk between molecular factors of local and systemic origin: the role of fibroblast growth factor 23. *BioFactors* **40**, 555-568
- 57. Forster, I. C., Hernando, N., Biber, J., and Murer, H. (2006) Proximal tubular handling of phosphate: A molecular perspective. *Kidney Int* **70**, 1548-1559
- 58. Nabeshima, Y. (2008) The discovery of alpha-Klotho and FGF23 unveiled new insight into calcium and phosphate homeostasis. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **65**, 3218-3230
- 59. Razzaque, M. S. (2009) FGF23-mediated regulation of systemic phosphate homeostasis: is Klotho an essential player? *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **296**, F470-476
- 60. Tenenhouse, H. S. (2005) Regulation of phosphorus homeostasis by the type iia na/phosphate cotransporter. *Annu Rev Nutr* **25**, 197-214
- 61. Virkki, L. V., Biber, J., Murer, H., and Forster, I. C. (2007) Phosphate transporters: a tale of two solute carrier families. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **293**, F643-654
- 62. Lanske, B., and Razzaque, M. S. (2007) Mineral metabolism and aging: the fibroblast growth factor 23 enigma. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* **16**, 311-318
- DeLuca, S., Sitara, D., Kang, K., Marsell, R., Jonsson, K., Taguchi, T., Erben, R. G., Razzaque, M. S., and Lanske, B. (2008) Amelioration of the premature ageing-like features of Fgf-23 knockout mice by genetically restoring the systemic actions of FGF-23. *J Pathol* 216, 345-355
- 64. Sethe, S., Scutt, A., and Stolzing, A. (2006) Aging of mesenchymal stem cells. *Ageing Res Rev* **5**, 91-116
- 65. Galvin, J. E., and Ginsberg, S. D. (2005) Expression profiling in the aging brain: a perspective. *Ageing Res Rev* **4**, 529-547
- 66. Zha, Y., Le, V. T., Higami, Y., Shimokawa, I., Taguchi, T., and Razzaque, M. S. (2006) Life-long suppression of growth hormone-insulin-like growth factor I activity in genetically altered rats could prevent age-related renal damage. *Endocrinology* **147**, 5690-5698
- 67. Kuro-o, M. (2001) Disease model: human aging. *Trends Mol Med* 7, 179-181

- 68. Nabeshima, Y. (2002) Klotho: a fundamental regulator of aging. *Ageing Res Rev* **1**, 627-638
- 69. Lanske, B., and Razzaque, M. S. (2007) Premature aging in klotho mutant mice: cause or consequence? *Ageing Res Rev* **6**, 73-79
- 70. Razzaque, M. S., and Lanske, B. (2006) Hypervitaminosis D and premature aging: lessons learned from Fgf23 and Klotho mutant mice. *Trends Mol Med* **12**, 298-305
- 71. Renkema, K. Y., Nijenhuis, T., van der Eerden, B. C., van der Kemp, A. W., Weinans, H., van Leeuwen, J. P., Bindels, R. J., and Hoenderop, J. G. (2005) Hypervitaminosis D mediates compensatory Ca2+ hyperabsorption in TRPV5 knockout mice. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **16**, 3188-3195
- 72. Sitara, D., Razzaque, M. S., St-Arnaud, R., Huang, W., Taguchi, T., Erben, R. G., and Lanske, B. (2006) Genetic ablation of vitamin D activation pathway reverses biochemical and skeletal anomalies in Fgf-23-null animals. *Am J Pathol* **169**, 2161-2170
- 73. Tsujikawa, H., Kurotaki, Y., Fujimori, T., Fukuda, K., and Nabeshima, Y. (2003) Klotho, a gene related to a syndrome resembling human premature aging, functions in a negative regulatory circuit of vitamin D endocrine system. *Mol Endocrinol* **17**, 2393-2403
- 74. Stubbs, J. R., Liu, S., Tang, W., Zhou, J., Wang, Y., Yao, X., and Quarles, L. D. (2007) Role of hyperphosphatemia and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in vascular calcification and mortality in fibroblastic growth factor 23 null mice. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **18**, 2116-2124
- 75. Razzaque, M. S., St-Arnaud, R., Taguchi, T., and Lanske, B. (2005) FGF-23, vitamin D and calcification: the unholy triad. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **20**, 2032-2035
- 76. Saito, H., Maeda, A., Ohtomo, S., Hirata, M., Kusano, K., Kato, S., Ogata, E., Segawa, H., Miyamoto, K., and Fukushima, N. (2005) Circulating FGF-23 is regulated by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and phosphorus in vivo. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 2543-2549
- 77. Razzaque, M. S., Sitara, D., Taguchi, T., St-Arnaud, R., and Lanske, B. (2006) Premature aging-like phenotype in fibroblast growth factor 23 null mice is a vitamin D-mediated process. *FASEB J* **20**, 720-722
- 78. Murer, H., Hernando, N., Forster, I., and Biber, J. (2000) Proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption: molecular mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* **80**, 1373-1409
- 79. Xu, H., Bai, L., Collins, J. F., and Ghishan, F. K. (2002) Age-dependent regulation of rat intestinal type IIb sodium-phosphate cotransporter by 1,25-(OH)(2) vitamin D(3). *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **282**, C487-493
- 80. Segawa, H., Yamanaka, S., Ohno, Y., Onitsuka, A., Shiozawa, K., Aranami, F., Furutani, J., Tomoe, Y., Ito, M., Kuwahata, M., Imura, A., Nabeshima, Y., and Miyamoto, K. (2007) Correlation between hyperphosphatemia and type II Na-Pi cotransporter activity in klotho mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **292**, F769-779
- 81. Kuro-o, M. (2010) Klotho. *Pflugers Arch* **459**, 333-343
- 82. Nakatani, T., Sarraj, B., Ohnishi, M., Densmore, M. J., Taguchi, T., Goetz, R., Mohammadi, M., Lanske, B., and Razzaque, M. S. (2009) In vivo genetic

evidence for klotho-dependent, fibroblast growth factor 23 (Fgf23) -mediated regulation of systemic phosphate homeostasis. *FASEB J* **23**, 433-441

- 83. Ohnishi, M., Nakatani, T., Lanske, B., and Razzaque, M. S. (2009) In vivo genetic evidence for suppressing vascular and soft-tissue calcification through the reduction of serum phosphate levels, even in the presence of high serum calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d levels. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* **2**, 583-590
- 84. Nakatani, T., Ohnishi, M., and Razzaque, M. S. (2009) Inactivation of klotho function induces hyperphosphatemia even in presence of high serum fibroblast growth factor 23 levels in a genetically engineered hypophosphatemic (Hyp) mouse model. *FASEB J* **23**, 3702-3711
- 85. Ohnishi, M., Nakatani, T., Lanske, B., and Razzaque, M. S. (2009) Reversal of mineral ion homeostasis and soft-tissue calcification of klotho knockout mice by deletion of vitamin D 1alpha-hydroxylase. *Kidney Int* **75**, 1166-1172
- 86. Ohnishi, M., and Razzaque, M. S. (2010) Dietary and genetic evidence for phosphate toxicity accelerating mammalian aging. *FASEB J* **24**, 3562-3571
- 87. Nabeshima, Y. (2006) Toward a better understanding of Klotho. *Sci Aging Knowledge Environ* **2006**, pe11
- 88. Razzaque, M. S. (2014) Bone-kidney axis in systemic phosphate turnover. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* **561**, 154-158
- Isakova, T., Wahl, P., Vargas, G. S., Gutierrez, O. M., Scialla, J., Xie, H., Appleby, D., Nessel, L., Bellovich, K., Chen, J., Hamm, L., Gadegbeku, C., Horwitz, E., Townsend, R. R., Anderson, C. A., Lash, J. P., Hsu, C. Y., Leonard, M. B., and Wolf, M. (2011) Fibroblast growth factor 23 is elevated before parathyroid hormone and phosphate in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* **79**, 1370-1378
- 90. Larsson, T., Nisbeth, U., Ljunggren, O., Juppner, H., and Jonsson, K. B. (2003) Circulating concentration of FGF-23 increases as renal function declines in patients with chronic kidney disease, but does not change in response to variation in phosphate intake in healthy volunteers. *Kidney Int* **64**, 2272-2279
- 91. Ix, J. H., Shlipak, M. G., Wassel, C. L., and Whooley, M. A. (2010) Fibroblast growth factor-23 and early decrements in kidney function: the Heart and Soul Study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **25**, 993-997
- 92. Fukagawa, M., Nii-Kono, T., and Kazama, J. J. (2005) Role of fibroblast growth factor 23 in health and in chronic kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* **14**, 325-329
- 93. Imanishi, Y., Inaba, M., Nakatsuka, K., Nagasue, K., Okuno, S., Yoshihara, A., Miura, M., Miyauchi, A., Kobayashi, K., Miki, T., Shoji, T., Ishimura, E., and Nishizawa, Y. (2004) FGF-23 in patients with end-stage renal disease on hemodialysis. *Kidney Int* 65, 1943-1946
- 94. Ferrari, S. L., Bonjour, J. P., and Rizzoli, R. (2005) Fibroblast growth factor-23 relationship to dietary phosphate and renal phosphate handling in healthy young men. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **90**, 1519-1524
- 95. Nishi, H., Nii-Kono, T., Nakanishi, S., Yamazaki, Y., Yamashita, T., Fukumoto, S., Ikeda, K., Fujimori, A., and Fukagawa, M. (2005) Intravenous calcitriol therapy increases serum concentrations of fibroblast growth factor-23 in dialysis patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism. *Nephron Clin Pract* **101**, c94-99

- 96. Gutierrez, O., Isakova, T., Rhee, E., Shah, A., Holmes, J., Collerone, G., Juppner, H., and Wolf, M. (2005) Fibroblast growth factor-23 mitigates hyperphosphatemia but accentuates calcitriol deficiency in chronic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **16**, 2205-2215
- 97. Shigematsu, T., Kazama, J. J., Yamashita, T., Fukumoto, S., Hosoya, T., Gejyo, F., and Fukagawa, M. (2004) Possible involvement of circulating fibroblast growth factor 23 in the development of secondary hyperparathyroidism associated with renal insufficiency. *Am J Kidney Dis* **44**, 250-256
- 98. Kawata, T., Imanishi, Y., Kobayashi, K., Miki, T., Arnold, A., Inaba, M., and Nishizawa, Y. (2007) Parathyroid hormone regulates fibroblast growth factor-23 in a mouse model of primary hyperparathyroidism. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **18**, 2683-2688
- 99. Saji, F., Shiizaki, K., Shimada, S., Okada, T., Kunimoto, K., Sakaguchi, T., Hatamura, I., and Shigematsu, T. (2009) Regulation of fibroblast growth factor 23 production in bone in uremic rats. *Nephron Physiol* **111**, p59-66
- 100. Ben-Dov, I. Z., Galitzer, H., Lavi-Moshayoff, V., Goetz, R., Kuro-o, M., Mohammadi, M., Sirkis, R., Naveh-Many, T., and Silver, J. (2007) The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* **117**, 4003-4008
- Krajisnik, T., Bjorklund, P., Marsell, R., Ljunggren, O., Akerstrom, G., Jonsson, K. B., Westin, G., and Larsson, T. E. (2007) Fibroblast growth factor-23 regulates parathyroid hormone and 1alpha-hydroxylase expression in cultured bovine parathyroid cells. *J Endocrinol* **195**, 125-131
- 102. Silver, J., Rodriguez, M., and Slatopolsky, E. (2012) FGF23 and PTH--double agents at the heart of CKD. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **27**, 1715-1720
- Faul, C., Amaral, A. P., Oskouei, B., Hu, M. C., Sloan, A., Isakova, T., Gutierrez, O. M., Aguillon-Prada, R., Lincoln, J., Hare, J. M., Mundel, P., Morales, A., Scialla, J., Fischer, M., Soliman, E. Z., Chen, J., Go, A. S., Rosas, S. E., Nessel, L., Townsend, R. R., Feldman, H. I., St John Sutton, M., Ojo, A., Gadegbeku, C., Di Marco, G. S., Reuter, S., Kentrup, D., Tiemann, K., Brand, M., Hill, J. A., Moe, O. W., Kuro, O. M., Kusek, J. W., Keane, M. G., and Wolf, M. (2011) FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 121, 4393-4408
- Gutierrez, O. M., Januzzi, J. L., Isakova, T., Laliberte, K., Smith, K., Collerone, G., Sarwar, A., Hoffmann, U., Coglianese, E., Christenson, R., Wang, T. J., deFilippi, C., and Wolf, M. (2009) Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* **119**, 2545-2552
- 105. Khan, A. M., Chirinos, J. A., Litt, H., Yang, W., and Rosas, S. E. (2012) FGF-23 and the progression of coronary arterial calcification in patients new to dialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* **7**, 2017-2022
- 106. Munoz Mendoza, J., Isakova, T., Ricardo, A. C., Xie, H., Navaneethan, S. D., Anderson, A. H., Bazzano, L. A., Xie, D., Kretzler, M., Nessel, L., Hamm, L. L., Negrea, L., Leonard, M. B., Raj, D., Wolf, M., and Chronic Renal Insufficiency, C. (2012) Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Inflammation in CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* 7, 1155-1162
- 107. Parker, B. D., Schurgers, L. J., Brandenburg, V. M., Christenson, R. H., Vermeer, C., Ketteler, M., Shlipak, M. G., Whooley, M. A., and Ix, J. H. (2010) The

associations of fibroblast growth factor 23 and uncarboxylated matrix Gla protein with mortality in coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul Study. *Annals of internal medicine* **152**, 640-648

- Foley, R. N., Parfrey, P. S., Harnett, J. D., Kent, G. M., Martin, C. J., Murray, D. C., and Barre, P. E. (1995) Clinical and echocardiographic disease in patients starting end-stage renal disease therapy. *Kidney Int* 47, 186-192
- 109. London, G. M., Pannier, B., Guerin, A. P., Blacher, J., Marchais, S. J., Darne, B., Metivier, F., Adda, H., and Safar, M. E. (2001) Alterations of left ventricular hypertrophy in and survival of patients receiving hemodialysis: follow-up of an interventional study. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **12**, 2759-2767
- 110. Silberberg, J. S., Barre, P. E., Prichard, S. S., and Sniderman, A. D. (1989) Impact of left ventricular hypertrophy on survival in end-stage renal disease. *Kidney Int* **36**, 286-290
- 111. Agarwal, I., Ide, N., Ix, J. H., Kestenbaum, B., Lanske, B., Schiller, N. B., Whooley, M. A., and Mukamal, K. J. (2014) Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiac structure and function. *J Am Heart Assoc* **3**, e000584
- 112. Dominguez, J. R., Shlipak, M. G., Whooley, M. A., and Ix, J. H. (2013) Fractional excretion of phosphorus modifies the association between fibroblast growth factor-23 and outcomes. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **24**, 647-654
- 113. Shalhoub, V., Shatzen, E. M., Ward, S. C., Davis, J., Stevens, J., Bi, V., Renshaw, L., Hawkins, N., Wang, W., Chen, C., Tsai, M. M., Cattley, R. C., Wronski, T. J., Xia, X., Li, X., Henley, C., Eschenberg, M., and Richards, W. G. (2012) FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. *J Clin Invest* **122**, 2543-2553
- 114. Unsal, A., Kose Budak, S., Koc, Y., Basturk, T., Sakaci, T., Ahbap, E., and Sinangil, A. (2012) Relationship of fibroblast growth factor 23 with left ventricle mass index and coronary calcificaton in chronic renal disease. *Kidney Blood Press Res* **36**, 55-64
- 115. Dai, B., David, V., Martin, A., Huang, J., Li, H., Jiao, Y., Gu, W., and Quarles, L. D. (2012) A comparative transcriptome analysis identifying FGF23 regulated genes in the kidney of a mouse CKD model. *PLoS One* 7, e44161
- Nasrallah, M. M., El-Shehaby, A. R., Osman, N. A., Fayad, T., Nassef, A., Salem, M. M., and Sharaf El Din, U. A. (2013) The Association between Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 and Vascular Calcification Is Mitigated by Inflammation Markers. *Nephron Extra* 3, 106-112
- 117. Coresh, J., Astor, B., and Sarnak, M. J. (2004) Evidence for increased cardiovascular disease risk in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* **13**, 73-81
- 118. Kendrick, J., and Chonchol, M. B. (2008) Nontraditional risk factors for cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nat Clin Pract Nephrol* **4**, 672-681
- 119. Shanahan, C. M., Crouthamel, M. H., Kapustin, A., and Giachelli, C. M. (2011) Arterial calcification in chronic kidney disease: key roles for calcium and phosphate. *Circ Res* **109**, 697-711

- Adeney, K. L., Siscovick, D. S., Ix, J. H., Seliger, S. L., Shlipak, M. G., Jenny, N. S., and Kestenbaum, B. R. (2009) Association of serum phosphate with vascular and valvular calcification in moderate CKD. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 20, 381-387
- 121. Li, X., Yang, H. Y., and Giachelli, C. M. (2006) Role of the sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter, Pit-1, in vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. *Circ Res* **98**, 905-912
- 122. Villa-Bellosta, R., Bogaert, Y. E., Levi, M., and Sorribas, V. (2007) Characterization of phosphate transport in rat vascular smooth muscle cells: implications for vascular calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**, 1030-1036
- 123. Nasrallah, M. M., El-Shehaby, A. R., Salem, M. M., Osman, N. A., El Sheikh, E., and Sharaf El Din, U. A. (2010) Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) is independently correlated to aortic calcification in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **25**, 2679-2685
- 124. Balci, M., Kirkpantur, A., Gulbay, M., and Gurbuz, O. A. (2010) Plasma fibroblast growth factor-23 levels are independently associated with carotid artery atherosclerosis in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *Hemodial Int* **14**, 425-432
- Jean, G., Bresson, E., Terrat, J. C., Vanel, T., Hurot, J. M., Lorriaux, C., Mayor, B., and Chazot, C. (2009) Peripheral vascular calcification in long-haemodialysis patients: associated factors and survival consequences. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 24, 948-955
- 126. Strewler, G. J. (2001) FGF23, hypophosphatemia, and rickets: has phosphatonin been found? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 5945-5946
- 127. Brown, A. J., Finch, J., and Slatopolsky, E. (2002) Differential effects of 19-nor-1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(2) and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) on intestinal calcium and phosphate transport. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine* **139**, 279-284
- 128. Yu, X., Sabbagh, Y., Davis, S. I., Demay, M. B., and White, K. E. (2005) Genetic dissection of phosphate- and vitamin D-mediated regulation of circulating Fgf23 concentrations. *Bone* **36**, 971-977
- Marsell, R., Krajisnik, T., Goransson, H., Ohlsson, C., Ljunggren, O., Larsson, T. E., and Jonsson, K. B. (2008) Gene expression analysis of kidneys from transgenic mice expressing fibroblast growth factor-23. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 23, 827-833
- 130. Perwad, F., Azam, N., Zhang, M. Y., Yamashita, T., Tenenhouse, H. S., and Portale, A. A. (2005) Dietary and serum phosphorus regulate fibroblast growth factor 23 expression and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D metabolism in mice. *Endocrinology* **146**, 5358-5364
- Takeda, E., Yamamoto, H., Nashiki, K., Sato, T., Arai, H., and Taketani, Y. (2004) Inorganic phosphate homeostasis and the role of dietary phosphorus. J Cell Mol Med 8, 191-200
- 132. Antoniucci, D. M., Yamashita, T., and Portale, A. A. (2006) Dietary phosphorus regulates serum fibroblast growth factor-23 concentrations in healthy men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **91**, 3144-3149

- 133. Isakova, T., Gutierrez, O. M., Smith, K., Epstein, M., Keating, L. K., Juppner, H., and Wolf, M. (2011) Pilot study of dietary phosphorus restriction and phosphorus binders to target fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* **26**, 584-591
- 134. Sato, T., Tominaga, Y., Ueki, T., Goto, N., Matsuoka, S., Katayama, A., Haba, T., Uchida, K., Nakanishi, S., Kazama, J. J., Gejyo, F., Yamashita, T., and Fukagawa, M. (2004) Total parathyroidectomy reduces elevated circulating fibroblast growth factor 23 in advanced secondary hyperparathyroidism. *Am J Kidney Dis* 44, 481-487
- 135. Lavi-Moshayoff, V., Wasserman, G., Meir, T., Silver, J., and Naveh-Many, T. (2010) PTH increases FGF23 gene expression and mediates the high-FGF23 levels of experimental kidney failure: a bone parathyroid feedback loop. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **299**, F882-889
- 136. Saji, F., Shigematsu, T., Sakaguchi, T., Ohya, M., Orita, H., Maeda, Y., Ooura, M., Mima, T., and Negi, S. (2010) Fibroblast growth factor 23 production in bone is directly regulated by 1{alpha},25-dihydroxyvitamin D, but not PTH. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **299**, F1212-1217
- 137. Gupta, A., Winer, K., Econs, M. J., Marx, S. J., and Collins, M. T. (2004) FGF-23 is elevated by chronic hyperphosphatemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **89**, 4489-4492
- 138. Bai, X., Miao, D., Goltzman, D., and Karaplis, A. C. (2007) Early lethality in Hyp mice with targeted deletion of Pth gene. *Endocrinology* **148**, 4974-4983
- Samadfam, R., Richard, C., Nguyen-Yamamoto, L., Bolivar, I., and Goltzman, D. (2009) Bone formation regulates circulating concentrations of fibroblast growth factor 23. *Endocrinology* **150**, 4835-4845
- 140. Gericke, A., Qin, C., Sun, Y., Redfern, R., Redfern, D., Fujimoto, Y., Taleb, H., Butler, W. T., and Boskey, A. L. (2010) Different forms of DMP1 play distinct roles in mineralization. *J Dent Res* **89**, 355-359
- 141. Wu, H., Teng, P. N., Jayaraman, T., Onishi, S., Li, J., Bannon, L., Huang, H., Close, J., and Sfeir, C. (2011) Dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1) signals via cell surface integrin. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 29462-29469
- 142. Takashi, Y., and Fukumoto, S. (2015) [Bone and Nutrition. The relationship between iron and phosphate metabolism]. *Clin Calcium* **25**, 1037-1042
- 143. Clinkenbeard, E. L., Farrow, E. G., Summers, L. J., Cass, T. A., Roberts, J. L., Bayt, C. A., Lahm, T., Albrecht, M., Allen, M. R., Peacock, M., and White, K. E. (2014) Neonatal iron deficiency causes abnormal phosphate metabolism by elevating FGF23 in normal and ADHR mice. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* 29, 361-369
- 144. Wolf, M., Koch, T. A., and Bregman, D. B. (2013) Effects of iron deficiency anemia and its treatment on fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate homeostasis in women. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* **28**, 1793-1803
- 145. Imel, E. A., Peacock, M., Gray, A. K., Padgett, L. R., Hui, S. L., and Econs, M. J. (2011) Iron modifies plasma FGF23 differently in autosomal dominant

hypophosphatemic rickets and healthy humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96, 3541-3549

- 146. Farrow, E. G., Yu, X., Summers, L. J., Davis, S. I., Fleet, J. C., Allen, M. R., Robling, A. G., Stayrook, K. R., Jideonwo, V., Magers, M. J., Garringer, H. J., Vidal, R., Chan, R. J., Goodwin, C. B., Hui, S. L., Peacock, M., and White, K. E. (2011) Iron deficiency drives an autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) phenotype in fibroblast growth factor-23 (Fgf23) knock-in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, E1146-1155
- 147. Kawai, M., Kinoshita, S., Shimba, S., Ozono, K., and Michigami, T. (2014) Sympathetic activation induces skeletal Fgf23 expression in a circadian rhythmdependent manner. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 1457-1466
- 148. Cohen, P., and Frame, S. (2001) The renaissance of GSK3. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 769-776
- 149. Embi, N., Rylatt, D. B., and Cohen, P. (1980) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 from rabbit skeletal muscle. Separation from cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase and phosphorylase kinase. *Eur J Biochem* **107**, 519-527
- 150. Woodgett, J. R., and Cohen, P. (1984) Multisite phosphorylation of glycogen synthase. Molecular basis for the substrate specificity of glycogen synthase kinase-3 and casein kinase-II (glycogen synthase kinase-5). *Biochim Biophys Acta* **788**, 339-347
- 151. Woodgett, J. R. (1990) Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. *EMBO J* **9**, 2431-2438
- 152. Woodgett, J. R. (1991) cDNA cloning and properties of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Methods Enzymol* **200**, 564-577
- 153. Frame, S., and Cohen, P. (2001) GSK3 takes centre stage more than 20 years after its discovery. *Biochem J* **359**, 1-16
- 154. Luo, J. (2009) Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta (GSK3beta) in tumorigenesis and cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Lett* **273**, 194-200
- 155. Jope, R. S., Yuskaitis, C. J., and Beurel, E. (2007) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): inflammation, diseases, and therapeutics. *Neurochem Res* **32**, 577-595
- 156. Cohen, P., Nimmo, H. G., and Proud, C. G. (1978) How does insulin stimulate glycogen synthesis? *Biochem Soc Symp*, 69-95
- 157. Parker, P. J., Caudwell, F. B., and Cohen, P. (1983) Glycogen synthase from rabbit skeletal muscle; effect of insulin on the state of phosphorylation of the seven phosphoserine residues in vivo. *Eur J Biochem* **130**, 227-234
- 158. Welsh, G. I., and Proud, C. G. (1993) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is rapidly inactivated in response to insulin and phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-2B. *Biochem J* **294 (Pt 3)**, 625-629
- 159. Welsh, G. I., Miller, C. M., Loughlin, A. J., Price, N. T., and Proud, C. G. (1998) Regulation of eukaryotic initiation factor eIF2B: glycogen synthase kinase-3 phosphorylates a conserved serine which undergoes dephosphorylation in response to insulin. *FEBS Lett* **421**, 125-130
- Cross, D. A., Alessi, D. R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., and Hemmings, B. A. (1995) Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature* **378**, 785-789

- 161. Hawkins, P. T., Anderson, K. E., Davidson, K., and Stephens, L. R. (2006) Signalling through Class I PI3Ks in mammalian cells. *Biochemical Society transactions* **34**, 647-662
- 162. Lang, F., Bohmer, C., Palmada, M., Seebohm, G., Strutz-Seebohm, N., and Vallon, V. (2006) (Patho)physiological significance of the serum- and glucocorticoid-inducible kinase isoforms. *Physiological reviews* **86**, 1151-1178
- 163. Shaw, M., Cohen, P., and Alessi, D. R. (1997) Further evidence that the inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by IGF-1 is mediated by PDK1/PKB-induced phosphorylation of Ser-9 and not by dephosphorylation of Tyr-216. *FEBS letters* 416, 307-311
- 164. Sakoda, H., Gotoh, Y., Katagiri, H., Kurokawa, M., Ono, H., Onishi, Y., Anai, M., Ogihara, T., Fujishiro, M., Fukushima, Y., Abe, M., Shojima, N., Kikuchi, M., Oka, Y., Hirai, H., and Asano, T. (2003) Differing roles of Akt and serum- and glucocorticoid-regulated kinase in glucose metabolism, DNA synthesis, and oncogenic activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**, 25802-25807
- 165. Suzuki, Y., Lanner, C., Kim, J. H., Vilardo, P. G., Zhang, H., Yang, J., Cooper, L. D., Steele, M., Kennedy, A., Bock, C. B., Scrimgeour, A., Lawrence, J. C., Jr., and DePaoli-Roach, A. A. (2001) Insulin control of glycogen metabolism in knockout mice lacking the muscle-specific protein phosphatase PP1G/RGL. *Mol Cell Biol* **21**, 2683-2694
- 166. Allon, M. (1992) Effects of insulin and glucose on renal phosphate reabsorption: interactions with dietary phosphate. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN* **2**, 1593-1600
- 167. McManus, E. J., Sakamoto, K., Armit, L. J., Ronaldson, L., Shpiro, N., Marquez, R., and Alessi, D. R. (2005) Role that phosphorylation of GSK3 plays in insulin and Wnt signalling defined by knockin analysis. *The EMBO journal* **24**, 1571-1583
- 168. Foller, M., Kempe, D. S., Boini, K. M., Pathare, G., Siraskar, B., Capuano, P., Alesutan, I., Sopjani, M., Stange, G., Mohebbi, N., Bhandaru, M., Ackermann, T. F., Judenhofer, M. S., Pichler, B. J., Biber, J., Wagner, C. A., and Lang, F. (2011) PKB/SGK-resistant GSK3 enhances phosphaturia and calciuria. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 22, 873-880
- 169. Boini, K. M., Bhandaru, M., Mack, A., and Lang, F. (2008) Steroid hormone release as well as renal water and electrolyte excretion of mice expressing PKB/SGK-resistant GSK3. *Pflugers Arch* **456**, 1207-1216
- 170. Cohen, P., and Goedert, M. (2004) GSK3 inhibitors: development and therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **3**, 479-487
- 171. Boini, K. M., Amann, K., Kempe, D., Alessi, D. R., and Lang, F. (2009) Proteinuria in mice expressing PKB/SGK-resistant GSK3. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **296**, F153-159
- 172. Siraskar, B., Volkl, J., Ahmed, M. S., Hierlmeier, M., Gu, S., Schmid, E., Leibrock, C., Foller, M., Lang, U. E., and Lang, F. (2011) Enhanced catecholamine release in mice expressing PKB/SGK-resistant GSK3. *Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology* **462**, 811-819
- 173. Dominguez, R., and Holmes, K. C. (2011) Actin structure and function. *Annu Rev Biophys* **40**, 169-186

- 174. Schoenenberger, C. A., Mannherz, H. G., and Jockusch, B. M. (2011) Actin: from structural plasticity to functional diversity. *Eur J Cell Biol* **90**, 797-804
- 175. Doherty, G. J., and McMahon, H. T. (2008) Mediation, modulation, and consequences of membrane-cytoskeleton interactions. *Annu Rev Biophys* **37**, 65-95
- 176. Van Troys, M., Huyck, L., Leyman, S., Dhaese, S., Vandekerkhove, J., and Ampe, C. (2008) Ins and outs of ADF/cofilin activity and regulation. *Eur J Cell Biol* **87**, 649-667
- 177. Winsor, B., and Schiebel, E. (1997) Review: an overview of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae microtubule and microfilament cytoskeleton. *Yeast* **13**, 399-434
- 178. Ono, S. (2007) Mechanism of depolymerization and severing of actin filaments and its significance in cytoskeletal dynamics. *Int Rev Cytol* **258**, 1-82
- 179. Pollard, T. D., Blanchoin, L., and Mullins, R. D. (2000) Molecular mechanisms controlling actin filament dynamics in nonmuscle cells. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct* **29**, 545-576
- 180. Foster, R., Hu, K. Q., Lu, Y., Nolan, K. M., Thissen, J., and Settleman, J. (1996) Identification of a novel human Rho protein with unusual properties: GTPase deficiency and in vivo farnesylation. *Mol Cell Biol* **16**, 2689-2699
- 181. Hall, A. (1994) Small GTP-binding proteins and the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* **10**, 31-54
- 182. Prokopenko, S. N., Saint, R., and Bellen, H. J. (2000) Untying the Gordian knot of cytokinesis. Role of small G proteins and their regulators. *J Cell Biol* **148**, 843-848
- 183. Nobes, C. D., and Hall, A. (1999) Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. *J Cell Biol* **144**, 1235-1244
- 184. Caron, E., and Hall, A. (1998) Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. *Science* **282**, 1717-1721
- 185. Bamburg, J. R. (1999) Proteins of the ADF/cofilin family: essential regulators of actin dynamics. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **15**, 185-230
- Arber, S., Barbayannis, F. A., Hanser, H., Schneider, C., Stanyon, C. A., Bernard, O., and Caroni, P. (1998) Regulation of actin dynamics through phosphorylation of cofilin by LIM-kinase. *Nature* **393**, 805-809
- 187. Papakonstanti, E. A., and Stournaras, C. (2008) Cell responses regulated by early reorganization of actin cytoskeleton. *FEBS Lett* **582**, 2120-2127
- 188. Krasilnikov, M. A. (2000) Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase dependent pathways: the role in control of cell growth, survival, and malignant transformation. *Biochemistry* (*Mosc*) **65**, 59-67
- 189. Jimenez, C., Portela, R. A., Mellado, M., Rodriguez-Frade, J. M., Collard, J., Serrano, A., Martinez, A. C., Avila, J., and Carrera, A. C. (2000) Role of the PI3K regulatory subunit in the control of actin organization and cell migration. *J Cell Biol* **151**, 249-262
- 190. Machesky, L. M., and Hall, A. (1996) Rho: a connection between membrane receptor signalling and the cytoskeleton. *Trends Cell Biol* **6**, 304-310
- 191. Wojciak-Stothard, B., Entwistle, A., Garg, R., and Ridley, A. J. (1998) Regulation of TNF-alpha-induced reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton and cell-cell

junctions by Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 in human endothelial cells. *J Cell Physiol* **176**, 150-165

- 192. Gouin, E., Welch, M. D., and Cossart, P. (2005) Actin-based motility of intracellular pathogens. *Curr Opin Microbiol* **8**, 35-45
- 193. Clemen, C. S., Herrmann, H., Strelkov, S. V., and Schroder, R. (2013) Desminopathies: pathology and mechanisms. *Acta Neuropathol* **125**, 47-75
- 194. Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, A., Ackermann, M. A., Bowman, A. L., Yap, S. V., and Bloch, R. J. (2009) Muscle giants: molecular scaffolds in sarcomerogenesis. *Physiol Rev* **89**, 1217-1267
- 195. Strnad, P., Stumptner, C., Zatloukal, K., and Denk, H. (2008) Intermediate filament cytoskeleton of the liver in health and disease. *Histochem Cell Biol* **129**, 735-749
- 196. Kumar, S., and Weaver, V. M. (2009) Mechanics, malignancy, and metastasis: the force journey of a tumor cell. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **28**, 113-127
- 197. Mierke, C. T. (2013) Physical break-down of the classical view on cancer cell invasion and metastasis. *Eur J Cell Biol* **92**, 89-104
- Bamburg, J. R., Bernstein, B. W., Davis, R. C., Flynn, K. C., Goldsbury, C., Jensen, J. R., Maloney, M. T., Marsden, I. T., Minamide, L. S., Pak, C. W., Shaw, A. E., Whiteman, I., and Wiggan, O. (2010) ADF/Cofilin-actin rods in neurodegenerative diseases. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 7, 241-250
- 199. Bamburg, J. R., and Wiggan, O. P. (2002) ADF/cofilin and actin dynamics in disease. *Trends Cell Biol* **12**, 598-605
- 200. Papakonstanti, E. A., and Stournaras, C. (2002) Association of PI-3 kinase with PAK1 leads to actin phosphorylation and cytoskeletal reorganization. *Mol Biol Cell* **13**, 2946-2962
- Voelkl, J., Alesutan, I., Leibrock, C. B., Quintanilla-Martinez, L., Kuhn, V., Feger, M., Mia, S., Ahmed, M. S., Rosenblatt, K. P., Kuro, O. M., and Lang, F. (2013) Spironolactone ameliorates PIT1-dependent vascular osteoinduction in klothohypomorphic mice. *J Clin Invest* **123**, 812-822
- 202. Berecek, K. H., and Brody, M. J. (1982) Evidence for a neurotransmitter role for epinephrine derived from the adrenal medulla. *Am J Physiol* **242**, H593-601
- 203. Ito, N., Wijenayaka, A. R., Prideaux, M., Kogawa, M., Ormsby, R. T., Evdokiou, A., Bonewald, L. F., Findlay, D. M., and Atkins, G. J. (2015) Regulation of FGF23 expression in IDG-SW3 osteocytes and human bone by pro-inflammatory stimuli. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **399**, 208-218
- 204. Papakonstanti, E. A., and Stournaras, C. (2004) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes survival of opossum kidney cells via Cdc42-induced phospholipase C-gamma1 activation and actin filament redistribution. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**, 1273-1286
- Papadopoulou, N., Charalampopoulos, I., Alevizopoulos, K., Gravanis, A., and Stournaras, C. (2008) Rho/ROCK/actin signaling regulates membrane androgen receptor induced apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. *Exp Cell Res* **314**, 3162-3174
- Liu, L., Li, J., Zhang, L., Zhang, F., Zhang, R., Chen, X., Brakebusch, C., Wang, Z., and Liu, X. (2015) Cofilin phosphorylation is elevated after F-actin disassembly induced by Rac1 depletion. *BioFactors* **41**, 352-359

- 207. Bhattacharyya, N., Wiench, M., Dumitrescu, C., Connolly, B. M., Bugge, T. H., Patel, H. V., Gafni, R. I., Cherman, N., Cho, M., Hager, G. L., and Collins, M. T. (2012) Mechanism of FGF23 processing in fibrous dysplasia. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* 27, 1132-1141
- 208. Fakhri, H., Pathare, G., Fajol, A., Zhang, B., Bock, T., Kandolf, R., Schleicher, E., Biber, J., Foller, M., Lang, U. E., and Lang, F. (2014) Regulation of mineral metabolism by lithium. *Pflugers Arch* **466**, 467-475
- 209. Mancia, G., Fagard, R., Narkiewicz, K., Redon, J., Zanchetti, A., Bohm, M., Christiaens, T., Cifkova, R., De Backer, G., Dominiczak, A., Galderisi, M., Grobbee, D. E., Jaarsma, T., Kirchhof, P., Kjeldsen, S. E., Laurent, S., Manolis, A. J., Nilsson, P. M., Ruilope, L. M., Schmieder, R. E., Sirnes, P. A., Sleight, P., Viigimaa, M., Waeber, B., Zannad, F., and Task Force, M. (2013) 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Journal of hypertension* **31**, 1281-1357
- 210. Yamamoto, K. (2015) beta-Blocker therapy in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: Importance of dose and duration. *Journal of cardiology*
- 211. Camm, A. J., Lip, G. Y., De Caterina, R., Savelieva, I., Atar, D., Hohnloser, S. H., Hindricks, G., Kirchhof, P., and Guidelines, E. S. C. C. f. P. (2012) 2012 focused update of the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: an update of the 2010 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation. Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. *European heart journal* **33**, 2719-2747
- 212. Gu, S., Kounenidakis, M., Schmidt, E. M., Deshpande, D., Alkahtani, S., Alarifi, S., Foller, M., Alevizopoulos, K., Lang, F., and Stournaras, C. (2013) Rapid activation of FAK/mTOR/p70S6K/PAK1-signaling controls the early testosterone-induced actin reorganization in colon cancer cells. *Cell Signal* **25**, 66-73
- 213. Edlund, S., Landstrom, M., Heldin, C. H., and Aspenstrom, P. (2002) Transforming growth factor-beta-induced mobilization of actin cytoskeleton requires signaling by small GTPases Cdc42 and RhoA. *Mol Biol Cell* **13**, 902-914
- 214. Vardouli, L., Vasilaki, E., Papadimitriou, E., Kardassis, D., and Stournaras, C. (2008) A novel mechanism of TGFbeta-induced actin reorganization mediated by Smad proteins and Rho GTPases. *FEBS J* **275**, 4074-4087
- 215. Papakonstanti, E. A., Emmanouel, D. S., Gravanis, A., and Stournaras, C. (1996) Na+/Pi co-transport alters rapidly cytoskeletal protein polymerization dynamics in opossum kidney cells. *Biochem J* **315 (Pt 1)**, 241-247
- Masuyama, R., Stockmans, I., Torrekens, S., Van Looveren, R., Maes, C., Carmeliet, P., Bouillon, R., and Carmeliet, G. (2006) Vitamin D receptor in chondrocytes promotes osteoclastogenesis and regulates FGF23 production in osteoblasts. *J Clin Invest* **116**, 3150-3159
- 217. Papadopoulou, N., Charalampopoulos, I., Anagnostopoulou, V., Konstantinidis, G., Foller, M., Gravanis, A., Alevizopoulos, K., Lang, F., and Stournaras, C. (2008) Membrane androgen receptor activation triggers down-regulation of PI-

3K/Akt/NF-kappaB activity and induces apoptotic responses via Bad, FasL and caspase-3 in DU145 prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer* **7**, 88

- 218. Mansell, J. P. (2014) Convergence of vitamin D and lysophosphatidic acid signaling in stimulating human osteoblast maturation. *Front Physiol* **5**, 263
- Foller, M., Hermann, A., Gu, S., Alesutan, I., Qadri, S. M., Borst, O., Schmidt, E. M., Schiele, F., vom Hagen, J. M., Saft, C., Schols, L., Lerche, H., Stournaras, C., Storch, A., and Lang, F. (2012) Chorein-sensitive polymerization of cortical actin and suicidal cell death in chorea-acanthocytosis. *FASEB J* 26, 1526-1534
- 220. Wang, S. E., Shin, I., Wu, F. Y., Friedman, D. B., and Arteaga, C. L. (2006) HER2/Neu (ErbB2) signaling to Rac1-Pak1 is temporally and spatially modulated by transforming growth factor beta. *Cancer Res* **66**, 9591-9600
- 221. Olson, E. N., and Nordheim, A. (2010) Linking actin dynamics and gene transcription to drive cellular motile functions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **11**, 353-365
- 222. Stournaras, C., Gravanis, A., Margioris, A. N., and Lang, F. (2014) The actin cytoskeleton in rapid steroid hormone actions. *Cytoskeleton* **71**, 285-293
- 223. Small, E. M. (2012) The actin-MRTF-SRF gene regulatory axis and myofibroblast differentiation. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res* **5**, 794-804
- 224. Esnault, C., Stewart, A., Gualdrini, F., East, P., Horswell, S., Matthews, N., and Treisman, R. (2014) Rho-actin signaling to the MRTF coactivators dominates the immediate transcriptional response to serum in fibroblasts. *Genes Dev* **28**, 943-958
- 225. Vasilaki, E., Papadimitriou, E., Tajadura, V., Ridley, A. J., Stournaras, C., and Kardassis, D. (2010) Transcriptional regulation of the small GTPase RhoB gene by TGF{beta}-induced signaling pathways. *FASEB J* **24**, 891-905
- 226. Papadimitriou, E., Kardassis, D., Moustakas, A., and Stournaras, C. (2011) TGFbeta-induced early activation of the small GTPase RhoA is Smad2/3independent and involves Src and the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav2. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **28**, 229-238
- 227. Papadimitriou, E., Vasilaki, E., Vorvis, C., Iliopoulos, D., Moustakas, A., Kardassis, D., and Stournaras, C. (2012) Differential regulation of the two RhoAspecific GEF isoforms Net1/Net1A by TGF-beta and miR-24: role in epithelial-tomesenchymal transition. *Oncogene* **31**, 2862-2875
- 228. Kaibuchi, K., Kuroda, S., and Amano, M. (1999) Regulation of the cytoskeleton and cell adhesion by the Rho family GTPases in mammalian cells. *Annu Rev Biochem* **68**, 459-486
- 229. Ridley, A. J. (2006) Rho GTPases and actin dynamics in membrane protrusions and vesicle trafficking. *Trends Cell Biol* **16**, 522-529
- Guignandon, A., Faure, C., Neutelings, T., Rattner, A., Mineur, P., Linossier, M. T., Laroche, N., Lambert, C., Deroanne, C., Nusgens, B., Demets, R., Colige, A., and Vico, L. (2014) Rac1 GTPase silencing counteracts microgravity-induced effects on osteoblastic cells. *FASEB J* 28, 4077-4087
- 231. Zhang, B., Shi, L., Lu, S., Sun, X., Liu, Y., Li, H., Wang, X., Zhao, C., Zhang, H., and Wang, Y. (2015) Autocrine IL-8 promotes F-actin polymerization and mediate mesenchymal transition via ELMO1-NF-kappaB-Snail signaling in glioma. *Cancer biology & therapy* **16**, 898-911

Name	Md. Abul Fajol
Date of Birth Nationality Address Email	20 th November 1983 Bangladeshi Schickhardtstr 9, 72072, Tuebingen, Germany <u>abul_fajol@yahoo.com</u>
	md-abul.fajol@student.uni-tuebingen.de

Education

- 2010-present: Ph.D. Institute of physiology I, Eberhard Karls University of Tübingen, Germany. Thesis: FGF23 production is influenced by PI3 kinase-insensitive GSK3 signaling and vitamin D-induced actin cytoskeleton reorganization regulates FGF23 gene transcription. Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Med. Florian Lang
- 2008-2010: **M.Sc.**1st class (Top grade) in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh. Thesis: Chronic arsenic exposure in human induces liver toxicity dose-dependently. *Supervisor*: Prof. Dr. Khaled Hossain

2003-2008: **B.Sc** (Honors) secured 1st class (Top grade) Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh. (Exam. year 2006, held in 2008).

Publications

- Fajol A, Chen H, Umbach AT, Quarles D L, Lang F and Föller M (2015) "Enhanced FGF23 production in mice expressing PI3K-insensitive GSK3 is normalized by βblocker treatment." FASEB J. 2015 Nov 2. PMID 26527066.
- 2. **Fajol A**, Honisch S, Schmid S, Lang F, Stournaras C and Föller M (2015). "Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23 gene transcription depends on actin cytoskeleton reorganization". (Submitted to FEBS LETTER)
- Lang E, Bissinger R, Fajol A, Salker MS, Singh Y, Zelenak C, Ghashghaeinia M, Gu S, Jilani K, Lupescu A, Reyskens KM, Ackermann TF, Föller M, Schleicher E, Sheffield WP, Arthur JS, Lang F, Qadri SM (2015). "Accelerated apoptotic death and in vivo turnover of erythrocytes in mice lacking functional mitogen- and stress-activated kinase MSK1/2". Sci Rep. 2015 Nov 27;5:17316. doi: 10.1038/srep17316. PMID: 26611568

- Zhang B, Yan J, Umbach AT, Fakhri H, Fajol A, Schmidt S, Salker MS, Chen H, Alexander D, Spichtig D, Daryadel A, Wagner CA, Föller M, Lang F (2015). "NFκBsensitive Orai1 expression in the regulation of FGF23 release". J Mol Med (Berl). 2015 Dec 3. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 26631141
- 5. **Fajol A**, Qadri SM, Chen H, Singh Y and Lang F (2015). "Influence of methylglyoxal on renal klotho and FGF23 expression." (Manuscript has been prepared)
- Umbach AT, Zhang B, Daniel C, Fajol A, Velic A, Hosseinzadeh Z, Bhavsar SK, Bock CT, Kandolf R, Pichler BJ, Amann KU, Föller M and Lang F (2015). "Janus kinase 3 regulates renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D 1α.hydroxylase expression, calcitriol formation and phosphate metabolism". kidney Int. 2015 Apr;87(4):728-37. PMID 25493954
- Fahkri H, Zhang B, Fajol A, Hernando N, Elvira B, Mannheim JG, Pichler BJ, Daniel C, Amann K, Hirao A, Haight J, Mak TW, Lang F and Föller M. "Checkpoint kinase Chk2 controls renal Cyp27b1 expression, calcitriol formation, and calcium-phosphate metabolism".Pflugers Arch. 2015 Sep;467(9):1871-80. doi: 10.1007/s00424-014-1625-9. Epub 2014 Oct 17. PMID 25319519
- Fakhri H, Ricken R, Adli M, Fajol A, Walter M, Föller M; Berlin Research Network of Depression, Lang F, Lang UE and Lange C. "Impact of lithium treatment of FGF-23 serum concentration in depressive patients." J Clin psychopharmacol. 2014 Dec;34(6):745-7 PMID 24949702
- Luo D*, Fajol A*, Umbach AT, Noegel AA, Laufer S, Lang F and Föller M. "Influence of annexin A7 on insulin sensitivity of cellular glucose upatake"._Pflugers Arch. 2015 Apr;467(4):641-9. doi: 10.1007/s00424-014-1541-z. Epub 2014 Jun 7. PMID 24903239
- Feger M*, Fajol A*, Lebedeva A, Meissner A, Michael D, Voelkl J, Alesutan I, Schleicher E, Reichetzeder C, Hocher B, Qadri SM and Lang F. "Effect of carbon monoxide donor CORM-2 on vitamin D3 metabolism". Kidney Blood Press Res. 2013;37(4-5):496-505. doi: 10.1159/000355730. Epub 2013 Nov 11. PMID 24247848
- Bhavsar SK, Schmidt S, Bobbala D, Nurbaeva MK, Hosseinzadeh Z, Merches K, Fajol
 A, Wilmes J and Lang F. "AMPKα1-sensitivity of Orai1 and Ca(2+) entry in T-

lymphoctes". Cell Physiol Biochem. 2013;32(3):687-98. doi: 10.1159/000354472. Epub 2013 Sep 13. PMID 24080823

- Fakhri H, Pathare G, Fajol A, Zhang B, Bock T, Kandolf R, Schleicher E, Biber J, Föller M, Lang UE and Lang F. " Regulation of mineral metabolism by lithum". Pflugers Arch. 2014 Mar;466(3):467-75. doi: 10.1007/s00424-013-1340-y. Epub 2013 Sep 7. PMID 24013758
- Almilaji A, Munoz C, Elvira B, Fajol A, Pakladok T, Honisch S, Shumilina E, Lang F and Föller M. "AMPK-activated protein kinase regulates hERG potassium channel". Pflugers Arch. 2013 Nov;465(11):1573-82. doi: 10.1007/s00424-013-1299-8. Epub 2013 May 29. PMID 23716168
- Pathare G, Föller M, Daryadel A, Mutig K, Bogatikov E, Fajol A, Almilaji A, Michael D, Stange G, Voelkl J, Wagner CA, Bachmann S and Lang F. "OSR1-sensitive renal tubular phosphate reabsorption". Kidney Blood Press Res. 2012;36(1):149-61. doi: 10.1159/000343405. Epub 2012 Oct 26. PMID: 23095210
- Pasham V, Pathare G, Fajol A, Rexhepaj R, Michael D, Pakladok T, Alesutan I, Rotte A, Föller M and Lang F. "OSR1-sensitive small intestinal Na+ transport". Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012 Dec 1;303(11):G1212-9. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00367.2011. Epub 2012 Sep 27. PMID: 23019198
- Gatidis S, Zelenak C, Fajol A, Lang E, Jilani K, Michael D, Qadri SM and Lang F. "p38 MAPK activation and fuction following osmotic shock of erythrocytes". Cell Physiol Biochem. 2011;28(6):1279-86. doi: 10.1159/000335859. Epub 2011 Dec 16. PMID: 22179015
- Zbidah M, Lupescu A, Jilani K, Fajol A, Michael D, Qadri SM and Lang F "Apigenininduced suicidal erythrocyte death". J Agric Food Chem. 2012 Jan 11;60(1):533-8. doi: 10.1021/jf204107f. Epub 2011 Dec 23. PMID: 22132906
- 18. Islam K, Haque A, Karim R, Fajol A, Hossain E, Salam KA, Ali N, Saud ZA, Rahman M, Rahman M, Karim R, Sultana P, Hossain M, Akhand AA, Mandal A, Miyataka H, Himeno S and Hossain K. "Dose-response relationship between arsenic exposure and the serum enzymes for liver function tests in the indivisuals exposed to arsenic: a cross sectional study in bangladesh". Environ Health. 2011 Jul 8;10:64. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-10-64. PMID: 21740555

- Tang C, Pathare G, Michael D, Fajol A, Eichenmüller M and Lang F. "Downregulation of klotho expression by dehydration". Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2011 Oct;301(4):F745-50. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00037.2011. Epub 2011 Jul 6. PMID: 21734097
- 20. Karim MR, Haque A, Islam K, Ali N, Salam KA, Saud ZA, Hossain E, Fajol A, Akhand AA, Himeno S and Hossain K "Protective effects of the dietary supplementation of turmeric (Curcuma longa L.) on sodium arsenite-induced biochemical perturbation in mice". Bangladesh Med Res Counc Bull. 2010 Dec;36(3):82-8. PMID:21548544

Contributions

The data presented in this thesis has been gathered from experiments that I carried out myself. Confocal microscopy was performed by Sabina Honisch. I received assistance in animal handling from Michael Föller, Anja T Umbach and Hong Chen.